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‘Radiation is an effective agent for destroying
tumors and is widely used in cancer treatment.’

•  Therapeutic Goods 
Administration (TGA) 
approval was granted 
for the sale of SIR-
Spheres® in Australia.

•  First commercial sale 
of SIR-Spheres® in 
Australia.

•  Regulatory approval 
granted for the sale of 
SIR-Spheres® in New 
Zealand, Hong Kong 
and Singapore.

1998
•  Sirtex Medical lists 

on the ASX ~ 400 
patients treated to 
date.

2000
24 Aug

2002
•  Food and Drug 

Administration 
of America (FDA) 
approval was 
granted.

2002
•  Sirtex Medical Inc., 

US based sales and 
marketing offi ce 
established in Lake 
Forest, Illinois, USA. 

•  First commercial sale of 
SIR-Spheres® in USA.

•  Awarded Humanitarian 
Benefi t Device of the 
Year 2002 by Frost and 
Sullivan in the USA.  

2000
•  Relocation of 

company from Perth, 
Western Australia 
to North Ryde, New 
South Wales.

Dec

Industry
Cancer remains a major health issue worldwide in 2006. Although there has been 
much research and progress into the early detection, better diagnosis and the 
overall treatments of cancer, this progress has mainly been in the area of childhood 
cancers with adult cancers lagging behind. 

One in three men and one in four women will develop cancer by the age of 75, 
with liver cancer being the third most common cancer behind prostate and lung 
for men and breast and lung for women.

There are two main categories of liver cancer. The fi rst is Primary liver cancer, 
which is cancer that originates in the liver. The other is Secondary liver cancer, which 
originates in another part of the body, such as the bowel or breast, and then spreads 
to the liver (metastasises) where it continues to grow.

There are approximately 500,000 cases of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), the most common 
primary liver cancer, and approximately 250,000 cases of colorectal cancer (CRC), the most common 
secondary liver cancer, per year worldwide. To date the vast majority of these patients are untreatable with 95%
of patients dying from their disease.

Few treatment regimes offer much hope in the treatment of liver cancer. Surgical resection (removal of the liver cancer) 
is the only potential curative strategy available. Unfortunately, when most patients go to the doctor they are already in 
the advanced stages of liver cancer and surgical resection is no longer an option. Other treatment options are available 
but they have limited success and are mainly palliative. These options for HCC include thermoablation and transarterial 
chemoembolisation. Treatment options for CRC include regional or systemic chemotherapy and thermoablation.

SIR-Spheres® (Selective Internal Radiation with yttrium-90 radioactive microspheres) has proven to have positive results in
the treatment of inoperable liver cancer for both HCC and CRC when used either in combination with chemotherapy or 
alone. Patient responses have included a reduction in disease progression and increased patient survival rates, with some 
patient’s liver cancer being down staged to a point that allows them to be deemed operable.

SIR-Spheres offers hope to patients with inoperable liver cancer who once had no hope.
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2003
•  European Regulatory 

approval granted. 

•  Sirtex Medical Europe 
Gmbh, European based 
sales and marketing 
offi ce established in 
Bonn, Germany.

•  First commercial sale of 
SIR-Spheres® in Europe.

2004
•  Purchase of manufacturing         

facility in Wilmington, 
Massachusetts USA.

•  SIR-Spheres® granted 
full funding in the USA by 
Medicare and Medicaid 
Services

2005
•  Relocation of head offi ce 

from North Ryde to Lane 
Cove, NSW, Australia.

•  Commencement of fi t 
out of Sirtex Wilmington 
LLC for the future 
manufacture of

 SIR-Spheres®.

2006
•  MSAC approval for 

private patients          
SIR-Spheres® is placed 
on the Prosthesis 
Benefi ts Schedule. 

•  > 4500 patients treated 
with SIR-Spheres®
to date.

SIR-Spheres microspheres are an innovative means of treating liver cancer. In 
cases where it is not possible to surgically remove the liver tumours, SIR-Spheres 
microspheres can be used to deliver targeted, internal radiation therapy directly 
to the tumour. This new therapy is called Selective Internal Radiation Therapy 
also known as SIRT. This technique uses millions of tiny resin microspheres which 
contain a radioactive element called yttrium-90. SIR-Spheres microspheres are 
very small, approximately 32 microns in size or about one-third the diameter of a 
strand of hair. A specially trained physician known as an interventional radiologist 
usually administers SIR-Spheres microspheres as an outpatient procedure. 
A small catheter is guided into the liver and the SIR-Spheres microspheres are 
infused through the catheter. The microspheres with the radioactive yttrium-90 
are carried by the bloodstream directly to the tumours in the liver where they 
preferentially lodge in the small vessels feeding the tumour and deliver their dose 
of radiation. Unlike conventional external beam radiation, which can only be applied to limited areas of the body, 
SIR-Spheres microspheres selectively irradiate the tumours and therefore have the ability to deliver more potent 
doses of radiation directly to the cancer cells over a longer period of time.

Radiation is an effective agent for destroying tumours 
and is widely used in cancer treatment. However, organs 
in the body are sensitive to radiation and high doses 
can seriously affect or injure a patient. SIR-Spheres 
microspheres and the SIRT technique enable specifi c 
targeting and destruction of the tumours within the 
liver, while sparing the normal healthy tissue. Scientists 
and doctors at Sirtex understood that liver tumours 
are hypervascular and derive most of their blood supply 
from the hepatic artery while healthy liver tissue is fed 
predominantly by the portal vein. By administering the 
SIR-Spheres microspheres into the hepatic artery they are 
carried preferentially to the tumour thereby sparing the normal 
liver. Once infused into the hepatic artery, SIR-Spheres microspheres 
travel in the bloodstream to the tumours, where they become lodged 
around the tumours. The dose of radiation from the SIR-Spheres 
microspheres in conjunction with their proximity to the tumour destroys 
the tumour and preserves the healthy liver tissue. The SIRT procedure allows 
a more pinpointed delivery of radiation to liver tumours than other radiotherapy 
techniques, making it more effective in killing the cancer.

SIR-Spheres At Work BLOOD
SUPPLY

TUMOUR

How the Product Works

Liver tumour being treated with 
SIR-Spheres
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Suzanne’s Story
Seventeen months ago I was staring death in the face. My liver tumors were growing 
out of control and my oncologist thought hospice was the only option I had left.
As well wishes poured in from family and friends, so did one very important call. 
A friend, who also was battling colon cancer, told me about SIR-Spheres. 

 I was put in contact with a local clinic where I learned I was a candidate for treatment. 
Within 12 weeks, my tumors had shrunk by 30% and in fi ve months they were down 
by 65%. A year and half later they remain stable!  

SIR-Spheres have given me my life back. I returned to school to complete my Master’s in Social Work. I witnessed my 
oldest daughter’s graduation, taught my youngest daughter to drive and my husband and I celebrated our twenty-fi rst 
wedding anniversary.  

Thank you Sirtex, for another year of memories.

Suzanne Lindley
Fort Worth, Texas

Testimonials

Jane’s Story

It’s four years since Jane, a Sydney nurse and mother of three, was diagnosed
at 34 with advanced colon cancer that had spread to her liver, causing extensive, 
multiple tumours.  

Following chemotherapy, Jane had surgery to remove two-thirds of her liver,
but some tumours were inoperable due to their size and location. (Jane’s colon 
tumour was successfully removed in a later surgery.) Unfortunately, follow-up  
scans revealed new liver tumours, and Jane’s doctor recommended Selective
Internal Radiation Therapy (SIRT) with SIR-Spheres microspheres. 
 
“I had SIRT in November 2003 and more chemotherapy, and my liver tumours shrank rapidly.  I later had 
radiofrequency ablation on one small tumour, and I’m delighted to say that I now don’t have any liver
tumours at all*,” says Jane. “It’s been a blessing, and I’m back at work and feeling well.  I’m so grateful
that medical science and technology has advanced so far over the years.”

*Approximately 5% of patients treated with SIRT experience a complete response like Jane’s.  

“SIR-Spheres have
given my life back”.

4 I      SIRTEX ANNUAL REPORT 06    



SIRTEX ANNUAL REPORT 06     I 5

Feve’s Story
When I was diagnosed with colorectal cancer and the doctor said it had spread to
my liver, my fi rst thoughts were not about me but my sister. I had watched her die 
from the same disease 20 years earlier and all of those memories came fl ooding
back in an instant. 

Fortunately the hospital where I worked as an orderly, Banner Good Samaritan
in Phoenix, Ariz., was a SIR-Spheres treatment center. My physician recommended 
me for the treatment which I underwent in early 2005. I felt a little tired after the 
procedure, but was able to return to work fairly quickly. My liver tumors shrank

to the point where I no longer required treatment. Today you’ll fi nd me back at Banner Good Sam, escorting patients to
their appointments and sharing my story. Thanks to SIR-Spheres I have put my fears behind me and am ready to enjoy
the future.

Feve Perez
Phoenix, Ariz.

Terry’s Story
Melbourne courier driver Terry, 56, discovered he had secondary liver cancer during 
emergency surgery to remove a perforated bowel tumour in February 2005. 

Terry’s ten liver tumours were inoperable, and he received Selective Internal
Radiation Therapy with SIR-Spheres microspheres in April, as well as chemotherapy.  
 
A follow-up CT scan showed two of Terry’s liver tumours had disappeared and the 
others had reduced in size; his largest tumour was now half the original size. 
By August, most of the liver tumours were gone; only two remained and were stable.  
 
“I have regular scans to monitor my condition, and my doctor says I’m doing very 

well,” says Terry. “Having had such a close call, I now spend more quality time with the people I love, and take the 
time to travel more often.”

‘Terry’s liver tumours had disappeared....’

“...I’m now living a
normal, active life.”

As a fi t 64-year-old, retired 
Perth sales manager John was not 

expecting a diagnosis of cancer after a
routine check-up with his GP in March 2000. 

However, tests revealed primary colon cancer 
that had spread to his liver, causing multiple 
large tumours. John had surgery to remove his 
colon cancer, and later received chemotherapy 
and Selective Internal Radiation Therapy with 
SIR-Spheres microspheres to treat his liver 
tumours.  
 

John’s liver tumours shrank over the next several 
months until he had only one small tumour 

remaining. After a two-year remission, John had 
further chemotherapy to keep his cancer under control.  

Finally, in July 2005, doctors decided his solitary liver tumour 
was small enough to be operable, and John had surgery in which a 

third of his liver was removed.  
 

“Since then, I’ve been cancer-free,” says John. “From death’s 
door six years ago, I’m now living a normal, active life.”

   
   

   

  J
ohn’s Story
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Performance Summary

•  Sales Revenue for the year 
was a record $22.6 million, 
an increase of 90.6%.

•  Sales growth was driven 
through increased unit sales 
(up 80.2%).

•  Net Profi t before tax of 
$5,457,000 increased 
signifi cantly over the 2005 
loss of $1,990,000.

•  Earnings per share (EPS) 
increased to 3.2 cents per 
share.

•  Increased direct presence 
in key markets during the 
year, with improved margins 
refl ected in profi t growth

•  Strengthened 
the senior 
executive team, 
including a new 
CFO, regional 
head in the 
US, and QA and 
Project manager all 
dedicated to growing 
the business.

•  Cashfl ow for Sirtex was strong, 
with consolidated cash activities 
up 59% to $10.8 million.

•  The construction and fi t out 
of the building for our own 
manufacturing facilities in the 
US market is underway and 
near completion. The facility is 
expected to be FDA approved 
and operational during FY2007.

‘Cashfl ow for Sirtex
was strong....’
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Chairman’s Report
The company has introduced a number of changes over the
year as part of the continual revision of company activities,
has grown its revenue and profi ts and is confi dent that this
will continue for the foreseeable future.

In last year’s report it was noted that the year of 2005 had
been largely given over to implementing the many changes
that were needed to take Sirtex from a small Australian
medical device company to that of an important global player
in oncology. The second half of fi scal 2005 saw the fi rst signs 
that this was paying off with a 40% rise in sales revenue.
This year we are able to report that growth in sales and
revenue has not only continued, but the rate of growth has 
escalated throughout the year.

Financial Performance & Growth

The Group ended the year with a net profi t before tax of 
$5,457,000 compared with a net loss before tax of $1,990,000 
in 2005 and an after tax profi t of $1,807,000 this year
compared to a net loss after tax of $2,002,000 in 2005.
This is clearly a favourable outcome and has been driven by 
increased sales in all regions.

Total unit sales of SIR-Spheres increased over the previous year 
by 86% for USA, 49% for EU and 74% for Rest-of-World.
This resulted in a 91% increase in consolidated sales revenue 
from $11,836,000 in 2005 to $22,559,000 for this year. There 
was an additional $1,370,000 in revenue from other sources.
This was a strong fi nancial result, providing a solid base for 
future growth.

“I am pleased to be able to report that 2006
has been a good year for Sirtex and progress
has been made on all fronts.”

SIRTEX ANNUAL REPORT 06     I 7



Strategic Progression

The Board of Directors undertook a strategic 
review of company direction during the year. 
The result was that the Board has reinforced 
management’s current primary focus which is 
to increase sales of the group’s main product 
as current sales represent a small fraction of 
the potential market opportunity. The Board 
supports management’s introduction of a New 
Opportunities Committee that is charged with 
reviewing other business opportunities that
Sirtex might embrace and which would 
complement the company’s current activities
and direction. Please refer to page 11 of the 
annual report for more on this committee.

Corporate Restructure

Sirtex commissioned Price Waterhouse Coopers 
to undertake an extensive review of the group’s 
structure and operations during the year. This has 
resulted in formation of fi ve additional subsidiary 
companies located in Australia and USA that 
will improve inter-company operations, increase 
effi ciencies and mitigate risk. Refer to note 38 in 
the fi nancial report.

International accounting changes

Considerable work has gone into readying the 
group for adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards (A-IFRS) which took effect 
on 1 July 2005 for the group. The changes to 
reporting under A-IFRS do not affect the cash 
fl ow generation of Sirtex’s businesses and 
therefore will not affect commercial decisions. 
Details of the changes to Sirtex’s accounts are 
included in note 2 to the fi nancial statements.

Outlook

In last year’s report we stated that the major 
changes were behind us and the Board had 
confi dence that the management team would 
grow the Sirtex business. This is clearly happening 
and the Board remains confi dent that the 
achievements of the past year are only the start 
of the Sirtex business growth cycle.

Richard Hill
Chairman
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CEO’s Report

Overview

Sirtex achieved a good result for the 2005/06 year with 
a signifi cant turnaround in fi nancial performance. The 
strategic plans and targeted sales strategies are reshaping 
the group and laying the foundations for signifi cant future 
growth. There is a growing awareness and acceptance 
of Y90 selective internal radiation treatment; much of 
this is due to the initiatives Sirtex has undertaken in 
promoting the benefi ts of our treatment and supporting 
clinical symposiums and conferences. There are also 
a growing number of papers being published on liver 
directed radiotherapy with SIR-Spheres as well as greater 
awareness by patients of the availability and benefi ts of 
SIRT treatment. 

Our primary focus is on continuing to increase sales of 
SIR-Spheres; which is our core product, expanding 
indications of use and identify ways to further develop 
or enhance the product and the technology. However, 
as part of our strategic plans we also need to consider 
our longer term future growth and towards this end 
we have introduced the New Opportunities Committee 
to actively seek new opportunities for the company to 
embrace. This is a lengthy process and has been initiated 
with a view to providing Sirtex with a pipeline of products, 
which will ensure our ongoing growth. Refer to page 11 
for further details of this committee.

Sales and Marketing

The targeted and focused sales and marketing strategy 
we implemented over a year ago has enabled us to 
achieve acceptable sales growth. We achieved good 
growth in all regions with the United States, our main 
market, leading the way. Whilst unit sales in Europe 
improved it is a complex market and still presents many 
challenges. Rest of World sales showed good growth in 
Australia and the groundwork has been established to 
facilitate future growth into parts of the Asian market. 
In all regions several new hospitals have been enrolled, 
we have expanded our education programmes and 
symposia and increased awareness through structured 
public relations campaigns. An independently run Patient 
Registry has been established and is currently being 
implemented to provide data on overall results of 
SIR-Spheres treatments in the United States and European 

regions. During the year we eventually received public
funding for SIR-Spheres in Australia on an interim basis 
over the next three years. We continue to address 
reimbursement in the European market. This is a slow 
process but we are gradually making progress.

Clinical

Two company sponsored dose escalation studies for 
patients with metastatic colorectal cancer were completed 
during the year. Both yielded very impressive outcomes. 
The outcomes of these trials have been presented at 
specialist medical conferences internationally over the 
course of the year, which has acted to raise the profi le of 
and generate fresh enthusiasm for our product. A number 
of other company supported trials are continuing. The 
fi rst of these trials concerns the treatment of patients with 
metastatic neuroendocrine tumours. This trial reached 
full recruitment in November, with patient outcomes 
maturing since that time. Preliminary results have yielded 
encouraging results, with outcomes being reported 
at international medical conferences. Two other trials 
assessing the product in different stages of colorectal 
cancer are being carried out in Belgium and Italy.

‘SIR-Spheres is an innovative
product to treat liver cancer.’
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These studies are progressing well, with recruitment to be 
completed during the coming year. The company will be 
initiating global clinical trials strategy in the 2006/07 year. 

Regulatory Affairs and Quality

We have comprehensive regulatory processes that are 
continuously updated, and which places us in compliance 
with all requirements for the markets we serve and there 
has been no adverse regulatory action taken by any 
regulator. The FDA has advised that our PMA supplement 
lodged to seek approval to manufacture in Wilmington
is approvable.

Quality assurance activity has been concentrated in two 
areas. Firstly, amendments to the Quality Management 
System to meet the requirements of the upgraded 
ISO13485 Quality System Standard have been made. 
Secondly, incorporating manufacturing requirements 
for the Wilmington operation into the system, to ensure 
regulatory and quality requirements are adequately 
supported prior to start-up has also been completed. 
BSI has audited both our Quality Management System 
and our compliance to the EC regulations for active 
implantables, and no non-conformances were found.
As a result, our EC Certifi cates will be renewed for a 
further three years. Further reviews and improvements 
of other aspects of the Quality System have also been 
implemented to strengthen and improve workability 
and effectiveness.   

Manufacturing

We have proactively taken steps to increase our capability 
to supply the increased volume. This was done as part of 
our overall business strategy and as such we have been 
able to supply our product with an absolute minimum of 
disruption. During the year we increased use of alternate 
sources of yttrium-90, thereby making production of 
SIR-Spheres not solely reliant on the reactor capacity at 
Lucas Heights. Process developments also resulted in an 
increase in the capacity of each batch of SIR-Spheres, 
providing more fl exibility in the supply of the product. 

SIR-Spheres have a short shelf life and any improvement to 
logistics is vital to the success of the business. To this end, 

as sales have increased, it has been easier to establish 
close constructive relationships with airlines and 
distributors to ensure effi cient delivery of the product. 
Installation and commissioning of the manufacturing 
plant and equipment at our new manufacturing site at 
Wilmington Massachusetts were conducted through 
the year together with the applications for the many 
and various licensing and regulatory approvals. 
Regulatory audits are scheduled to take place in the 
third quarter of calendar 2006 and this facility is due to 
commence production and distribution of SIR-Spheres 
doses in fourth quarter of 2006 for the United States 
market. We will continue to expand the production
and distribution capacity from the Lucas Heights plant 
as sales increase in Australia and New Zealand and new 
markets are opened up, especially in Asia. 

Our people

A key element of any successful organisation is its 
people. Sirtex has an excellent core of highly capable 
and dedicated people and considerable emphasis has 
been placed on developing our people into a focussed 
cohesive team. Their efforts throughout the year have 
been a major factor in the achievements Sirtex has 
made over the past twelve months. During the year 
we have also strengthened our team with some key 
appointments including our CFO Angela Leard, our QA 
& Project Manager Erik Strautnieks and most recently 
a new CEO for our US sales operations, Nathaniel 
Geissel. We have also strengthened our sales force with 
recruitments in the US and European markets.   

Going Forward

We have made positive strides forward during the past 
year as a result of the strategies and initiatives that have 
been put in place. This provides good foundations for 
solid and accelerating growth in the future. Whilst much 
has been accomplished, we still face enormous challenges. 
We will continue to evolve and develop our company and 
remain focussed on achievement of our goals.

Gilman E Wong
Chief Executive Offi cer

‘Patient results following implantation with SIR-Spheres 
microspheres have now been published in the medical 
literature on over 800 patients.’
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Hyperthermia

The targeted hyperthermia project has been a major focus 
of the company’s R&D efforts. Sirtex has a fi rm belief 
that this technology holds great promise as an effective 
therapeutic agent in its own right or in conjunction with 
SIR-Spheres. Hyperthermia is a therapeutic modality in 
which cancer cells are heated and maintained at a few 
degrees above body temperature for 20 or 30 minutes. 
Even this seemingly mild level of heating will destroy cancer 
cells. This idea has been around for literally decades and 
the clinical effectiveness of hyperthermia has been clearly 
demonstrated in the treatment of relatively superfi cial and 
easily accessible cancers 
such as melanoma. 
However, technological 
limitations have always 
prevented the use 
of hyperthermia to 
treat deeper tissue 
sites such as the liver. 
Challenges relating to 
the inadvertent heating 
of overlying and nearby 
healthy tissue coupled with inadequate heating of all of 
the cancerous deposit have not been met by the available 
technology up until now.
Sirtex’s novel targeted hyperthermia approach uses 
microspheres loaded with magnetic material, called 
Thermospheres®, to target tumours in the liver in just the 
same way that SIR-Spheres do. Once in place around the 
tumour, a high frequency magnetic fi eld is applied to the 
region and this causes the magnetic material within the 
Thermospheres to heat. 
The magnetic fi eld does 
not, in itself, cause 
any adverse effects in 
the tissue but it does 
interact strongly with 
the Thermospheres to 
cause localised heating 
of the tumour. The 
diffi culty has been 
to develop Thermospheres that can generate therapeutic 
levels of heating using clinically acceptable magnetic fi eld 
conditions and also taking account of the fact that only

relatively small amounts of material can be delivered to 
tumours using the vascular targeting route. Solving this 
problem has proven to be a bigger hurdle than originally 
thought and has been the major reason preventing the 
commencement of clinical trials to date. In working 
towards addressing these issues, Sirtex scientists have 
become involved in some truly cutting edge technology. 
Our collaboration with the Key Centre for Polymer 
Colloids at the University of Sydney, now in its third 
year, is entering an exciting stage that is starting to yield 
dividends. Already, one international patent application 
has resulted from this work with more to follow. We are 
confi dent that this fi nal technical hurdle will be overcome 
soon and that the rewards for such a prolonged effort will 
be realised.

New Opportunities Committee

In other developments, Sirtex has instigated its New 
Opportunities Committee for the express purpose of 
seeking out potential new product opportunities. Since its 
inception 12 months ago, the committee has considered 
over 50 new technologies originating anywhere from 
university laboratories or hospital departments to other 
national and international companies. This number does 
not include the many possibilities that have been rejected 
on the basis that they are too far removed from Sirtex’s 
core expertise and business interests. We have found that 
as the wider biotech community 
becomes increasingly aware of 
the committee’s activities we 
are regularly presented with 
opportunities for partnering 
or collaborations as well as 
opportunities for outright 
acquisition of new technologies. 
Sirtex’s record of successful 
commercialisation of the SIR-Spheres product throughout 
Australia and internationally will stand it in good stead 
when the time comes to orchestrate the transition of 
a promising new laboratory based idea into a viable 
commercial product. In recent times the committee has 
focussed considerable attention on a couple of particularly 
promising possibilities. The New Opportunities Committee 
is an exciting new aspect to the company’s R&D activities.

Sirtex has an ongoing commitment to a program of research into 
the development of products for the treatment of cancer by 
maintaining an active in-house R&D capability as well as 
collaborative arrangements with several external organisations 
with specialist expertise. The company understands the importance 
of being able to develop and exploit cutting edge technologies if it 
is to continue to grow and be commercially successful into the future.

Research & Development



1.  Dr Bruce N. Gray - Age 64, MB, BS, MS, PhD, FRACS
  Appointed 1997
  Non-Executive Chairman. Founding Director from 1997. Resigned as Chief Executive 

Offi cer during 2005. Retired as Chairman on 22 August 2006.

2.  Gilman Wong - CEO - Age 55
 Appointed 28 June 2005  
  Appointed Chief Executive Offi cer 26 May 2005. He previously held CEO and senior 

executive positions in the commercial and industry sector including 10 years with 
Email Limited. He has a strong planning and sales and marketing background. 

3.   Grant Boyce - Age 49, Bcomm, CA
  Appointed 19 December 2002
  Chartered accountant and the founder of Montrose Partners, a West Australian     

fi rm of chartered accountants. He was a partner with Ernst & Young and worked 
in their Perth and New York offi ces. He has also served previously as Company 
Secretary for Sirtex.                                                                       

 Chairman of the Audit Committee and Member of the Remuneration committee.

4.  Richard Hill - Chairman - Age 60, B.A,  LL.B(Sydney), LL.M(London)
 Appointed 1 September 2004 as Director and 22 August 2006 as Chairman.    
  Previously holding senior executive positions with HSBC Investment Bank in Hong 

Kong and New York and has extensive experience in international M&A and Capital 
raising. Currently holds position as Chairman of Calliden Ltd (ASX listed) and 
Chairman of Insearch Ltd. He was also founding partner of Hill Young & Associates, 
corporate advisory fi rm. He is also an attorney of the New York State Bar.

     Member of the Remuneration Committee and Member of the Audit Committee.

5.  Dr. John Eady - Age 61, B.Sc.(Hons), Ph.D, FTSE 
 Appointed 1 March, 2005. 
  Non-Executive Director. Dr. Eady spent most of his career with CRA limited in a  

range of senior executive positions. He has broad Board experience including that 
with the Australian Federal Government’s Industry, Research and Development 
Board. Dr. Eady is a Fellow of the Academy of Technological Sciences and 
Engineering and is also an Adjunct Professor within RMIT University’s Graduate 
School of Business. He consults extensively on business improvement in Asia.   
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

6.  Charles Rowland - CEO Sirtex Medical Inc. - Age 55, Bsc, MBA
 Retired 25 October 2005.
  Executive Director and President of Sirtex Medical Inc, joined the Board in 2003. 

He previously held a number of senior positions in the US medical device industry 
including 9 years with Baxter Healthcare. 

7.   Angela Leard - Company Secretary/CFO - Age 31, Bcomm, CA 
 Appointed 26 July 2005
  Has international commercial experience at an executive level in formulating growth 

strategies and implementing operational change to ensure business effi ciency. Held 
previous roles in Biotechnology manufacturing industry, construction and chemical 
manufacturing.

Board of Directors

1.

3.

4.

5.

7.

6.

2.
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Corporate Governance Report
Sirtex is committed to ensuring that its policies and practices refl ect good 
corporate governance and that there is compliance with all requirements applying 
to Australian listed companies. This Corporate Governance Report sets out the 
key governance principles and practices of Sirtex in order of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council Principles.

Policies and Terms of reference have been made on the company website:
www.sirtex.com  

The Board and the Company recognise that the Company’s shareholders, employees, 
regulatory bodies, customers and the community expect a high standard of accountability, 
performance and ethical behaviour and the Board acknowledges its responsibilities for and 
commitment to best practice in corporate governance.

Corporate governance should be transparent to all stakeholders and other interested parties. 

‘Sirtex is committed to ensuring that 
its policies and practices refl ect good 
corporate governance...’
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1. Board Charter
1.1 Role of the Board
The prime responsibility of the Board is to oversee Sirtex’s business activities for the benefi t of all shareholders. 
The Board has delegated responsibility for the management of the business, through the Chief Executive 
Offi cer, to executive management. The Chief Executive Offi cer is accountable to the Board for all authority 
delegated to executive management.

The Board also recognises that the Company has other corporate and community responsibilities. 

1.2 Responsibilities of the Board
The key responsibilities of the Board are to:
• Establish and monitor corporate governance policies;
• Contribute to and approve strategy and performance objectives developed by management;
• Ensure appropriate policies and procedures are in place to manage risks and internal compliance;
• Ensure appropriate policies, procedures and systems are in place to monitor performance and controls;
• Approve and monitor fi nancial reporting and budgets;
• Approve major investments;
• Determine the composition of the Board to ensure there is an appropriate 
 mix of expertise and experience;
• Assess the performance of the Board as a whole and the contributions of 
 individual Directors;
• Appoint the Chief Executive Offi cer and approve succession plans and senior 
 management remuneration;
• Appoint the Chief Financial Offi cer; and
• Ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

1.3 Responsibilities of Management
The key responsibilities of management are to:
•  Assume and exercise the powers and perform the duties vested in 

management by the Board;
• Manage the company’s fi nancial affairs and investment decisions;
•  Develop corporate strategy, fi nancial performance targets, budgets 

and plans for consideration and approval of the Board;
• Manage the Company’s human resources;
• Manage investor relations;
• Manage the Company’s risk management procedures; and
• Manage the day-to-day operations of the Company.

1.4 Membership of the Board
The Constitution provides that the maximum number of Directors is twelve and the minimum number is three. 
Currently the Board comprises fi ve Directors, one is an Executive Director and four are Non-Executive Directors.

Three of the four Non Executive Directors are considered to be independent with reference to the Company’s 
independence criteria referred to below.

Under the Company’s Constitution any Director appointed to fi ll a casual vacancy must stand for election at
the next AGM. The Company’s Constitution outlines all the circumstances where a Director must stand for 
re-election.

The Directors will appoint one of their number as the Chairman.

The Board seeks to ensure that at any point in time its membership comprises persons with the appropriate skills, 
knowledge and experience to maximise its effectiveness and contribution to the company.

The whole Board will act in the capacity of a nominating committee to add and remove Directors as appropriate.
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1.5 Independence of Directors
An independent Director is a Non-Executive Director who is not a member of management and:

1.6 Confl icts of Interest
In addition to any legal obligations, Directors are required to disclose to the Board details of any contract or 
other interest involving the company in which they have a personal interest. The Board will require that the 
Director:

• Fully and frankly inform the Board about the circumstances giving rise to the confl ict; and
•  Abstain from voting on any motion in relation to the matter and absenting himself or herself during any 

discussion, if required.

    

1.7 Independent Advice
A Director is entitled to seek independent professional advice (including but 
not limited to legal, accounting and fi nancial advice) at the company’s expense 
on any matter connected with the discharge of his or her responsibilities, in 
accordance with the procedures and subject to the conditions set out below:

 1. A Director must seek the prior approval of the chairman;

  2. The Chairman may prescribe a reasonable limit on the amount that the 
  company will contribute towards the cost of obtaining such advice;  

 3. All documentation containing or seeking independent professional advice 
  must clearly state that the advice is sought both in relation to the company 
  and to the director in his or her personal capacity; 

 4.  The right to advice does not extend to advice concerning matters of a personal or private nature, 
including for example, matters relating to the director’s contract of employment with the company          
(in the case of an executive director) or any dispute between the director and the company; and 

 5.  The Chairman may determine that any advice received by an individual director will be circulated to      
the remainder of the Board.

•  Is not a substantial shareholder of the Company or 
an offi cer of, or otherwise associated directly with, 
a substantial shareholder of the Company;

•  Within the last three years has not been employed 
in an executive capacity by the Company or 
another group member, or been a Director after 
ceasing to hold any such position;

•  Within the last three years has not been a principal 
of a material advisor or a material consultant to 
the Company or another group member, or an 
employee materially associated with the service 
provided;

•  Is not a material supplier or customer of the 
company or other group member, or an offi cer of 
or otherwise associated directly or indirectly with   
a material supplier or customer;

•  Has no contractual relationship with the company or 
another group member other than as a director of   
the Company;

•  Has not served on the Board for a period that could 
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with 
the Director’s ability to act in the best interests of the 
Company; and

•   Is free from any interest and any business or other 
relationship, which could or could reasonably be 
perceived to, materially interfere with the Director’s 
ability to act in the best interest of the Company.

Each independent Director is required to regularly 
provide the Board with all information regarding his      
or her interests that are relevant to independence.

‘Treatment with SIR-Spheres 
microspheres has shown a benefi t in 
primary and secondary liver cancers.’
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2. Board Committees
The Board has delegated some of its responsibilities to Committees of the Board. 
These delegations are supported by appropriate controls, which are documented 
and approved by the Board. At the present time there are two such sub-committees 
and they are:

• Audit Committee; and   •  Remuneration Committee

The Committees will comprise a majority of independent non-executive directors. The 
Chairpersons will be appointed by the Board. The Committees will hold at least two 
meetings per year. 

The minutes of all Board Committees are tabled and any recommendations are considered
at the next Board meeting. All Board members are entitled to attend all Committee meetings
if invited.

3. Audit Committee Charter Purpose
The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board to fulfi l 
its corporate governance and supervisory responsibilities in relation 
to ensuring:

• The adequacy and reliability of fi nancial and management reporting;
• External reporting complies with statutory, ASX and other requirements;
• An effective and effi cient audit is conducted;
• Appropriate internal controls and procedures are established and adhered to; and
• Financial and business risks are properly managed.

The Audit Committee operates principally as a review advisory body and makes recommendations to the 
Board. Management retains primary responsibility for the Company’s fi nancial reporting, internal controls and 
risk management and the Board is the overseer of this function.

Responsibilities
The main responsibilities are listed below:

• Review the half year report and full year report;
•  Review any other ASX fi nancial reporting 

requirements eg Appendix 4C, Appendix 4D and 
Appendix 4E;

• Review other publicly released fi nancial information;
•  Assess the appropriateness of the Company’s 

external reporting eg accounting policies adopted;
•  Review related party transactions and their 

reporting;
• Review internal control and risk management; and
• Review the external audit role.

Membership
The Board will appoint the members of the
Audit Committee which should comprise:

• A Non-Executive Chairperson;
• At least two members;
• Independent Directors; and
• Members who are 
 fi nancially literate

Meetings
There should be at least two meetings of the Audit Committee per 
year and any additional meetings that the Chairman deems necessary. 
The Chairman will report the Committee recommendations to the 
Board after each meeting. Any Director is entitled to attend an Audit 
Committee meeting if invited.

4. Remuneration Committee Charter Purpose
The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to assist the Board to fulfi l its corporate 
governance and supervisory responsibilities in relation to ensuring:

•  That the level and composition of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors and Executive 
employees is reasonable with regard to the state of development and performance of the company;

• Remuneration policies attract, motivate and maintain talented Directors and employees; and
• That the remuneration policies are understood by investors.
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Responsibilities
The Remuneration Committee reviews and develops the 
remuneration policies, processes and packages applicable to 
all employees, and recommends their approval to the Board. 
The Remuneration Committee also reviews and approves 
recommendations on Executive remuneration packages, 
terms of employment and termination packages.

Executive employees are defi ned as those reporting directly 
to the CEO.

Remuneration packages include base salary, superannuation, 
fringe benefi ts, relocation allowances, incentive schemes 
(including performance-related bonuses and options) and 
other entitlements.

The Remuneration Committee may seek the advice of 
external advisers in connection with the structure of 
remuneration packages.

Membership
The Board will appoint the members
of the Remuneration Committee which
should comprise:

• A Non-Executive independent Chairperson;
• At least three members; and
•  The majority of the members are non-executive 

independent directors.

Meetings
The Remuneration Committee will meet at least 
twice a year. Meetings can be held via email, video 
conferencing or telephone. All members must be 
available at short notice to approve any change to 
employment conditions or approve the remuneration 
package offered to any new employee. 

    

5. Directors’ Code of Conduct
The Board should promote ethical and responsible decision-making and this 
will require the Board to clarify the standards of ethical behaviour required 
from the Board members and the key executive staff.  The Board and 
executives will encourage all staff to comply.

•  A Director must at all times act honestly, in good faith and in the best 
interests of the company as a whole. 

•  A Director has a duty to perform the functions of offi ce and exercise the 
powers attached to that offi ce with a degree of care and diligence that 
a reasonable person would exercise if they were a Director in the same 
circumstances.

•  A Director should consider matters before the Board having regard to:
   1. any possible material personal interest he or she may have in the subject matter; and 
   2. the amount of information appropriate to properly consider the subject matter; and  
   3. what is in the best interests of the company?

•  A Director must recognise that, in acting as a director of the company, his or her dominant purpose or object 
must be to serve the interests of the members of the company as a whole, not the interests of any particular 
group of directors or stakeholders or the Director’s personal or commercial interests. In circumstances of 
insolvency or near insolvency, the duty to act in the best interests of members is overridden by a duty to act 
in the best interests of creditors.

•  A Director must not make improper use of information acquired as a director to gain a personal advantage or 
to cause detriment to the Company. 

•  A Director must not take improper advantage of the position of director to gain a personal advantage or to 
cause detriment to the Company.

•  A Director must not place himself or herself in a position where there is a reasonable possibility of confl ict 
between his or her personal or business interests, the interests of any associated person, or his or her 
duties to any other company, on the one hand, and the interests of the company or his or her duties to the 
company, on the other hand. The action which a Director will be required to take if he or she is faced with 
an actual or potential confl ict of interest or duties in relation to a particular matter being considered by the 
Board will depend on the nature and circumstances of the confl ict and may include any of the following:

   1. fully and frankly informing the Board about the circumstances giving rise to the confl ict; 
   2.  abstaining from voting on any motion relating to the matter and absenting himself or herself from 

all board deliberations relating to the matter; or 
   3. resigning from the Board.

•  If a Director believes that he or she may have a confl ict of interest or duty in relation to a particular matter, 
the Director should consult with the Chairman.

•  A Director must bring an enquiring, open and independent mind to Board meetings, listen to the debate on 
each issue raised, consider the arguments for and against each motion and reach a decision that he or she 
believes to be in the best interests of the Company as a whole.
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(continued)

•  An opportunity must be provided for a Director to put his or her views on issues before the Board or a 
Committee on which he or she sits. While Directors must treat each other with courtesy and observe the 
other rules in this Code, Directors should be able to engage in vigorous debate on matters of principle.

•  Confi dential information (including Board or committee papers) received by a Director in the course of the 
exercise of directorial duties remains the property of the company from which it was obtained and it is 
improper to disclose it, or allow it to be disclosed, unless that disclosure has been duly authorised by the 
company, or the person by whom the information was provided, or is required by law or by the Listing Rules. 

•  A Director must not disclose the content of discussion at board meetings or committee meetings outside 
appropriate and responsible circles within the Company with a legitimate interest in the subject of the 
disclosure, unless that disclosure has been authorised by the company, is required by law or by the ASX   
Listing Rules.

•  A Director generally must not engage in conduct or make any public statement likely to prejudice the 
company’s business or likely to harm, defame or otherwise bring discredit upon or denigrate the Company, 
fellow directors or staff. A Director may make such a statement only if the Director believes in good faith  
that it is in the best interests of the Company as a whole to make such a statement.

•  A Director must, unless exempted by the Board, co-operate in corporate governance procedures prescribed 
by the Chairman including periodic appraisals of the performance of the Board conducted by the Chairman.

•  A Non-Executive Director must devote such time as is necessary to carry out the duties of the Non-Executive 
Director as determined by the Chairman.

•  A Director has an obligation, at all times, to comply with the spirit, as well as the letter, of the law and of the 
principles of this code of conduct.

6. Securities Trading Policy
6.1 Purchase or Selling of Shares
Staff and Directors can only trade in Sirtex Medical Ltd shares during the 
approved trading window.
1.   The trading window is defi ned as the period two days after and no later 

than 45 days after the company has released its annual or half yearly   
results to the market or held its AGM.

2.  At other such times as approved by the Board.

If material information is known by a Director or member of staff during the 
trading window that has not been released to the market then no trading in 
Sirtex Medical shares should take place during the trading window.

Any purchases or selling of shares by Directors must be notifi ed to the company secretary and ASX within 
4 business days of the event occurring.

6. Securities Trading Policy (continued)

6.2 Exercise of Options
Staff and Directors can exercise options at any time. Any exercising of options by Directors must be notifi ed 
to the Company Secretary and ASX within 4 business days of the event occurring.

‘SIR-Spheres microspheres may be used to 
downstage (reduce) a patient’s tumours to 
resection or even transplant - thus providing
the patient with prolonged survival.’
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7. Continuous Disclosure Policy
7.1 Disclosure obligations under ASX Listing Rules
This disclosure policy is required to ensure that Sirtex complies with the premise that at all times the market in the 
Company’s securities should be a fully informed market. The disclosure requirements must be complied with in 
accordance with their spirit, intention and purpose.

Sirtex will comply with the listing rules of the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) as contained in Chapters 3 and 
4. In addition Sirtex will comply with the guidance notes issued by the ASX relating to use of the Company 
Announcement Platform.

When required, Sirtex will make disclosure immediately. Disclosure is the responsibility of the Chief Executive 
Offi cer and the Board.

Chapter 3 of the listing rules requires that price sensitive information must be disclosed. Price sensitive information 
is any information concerning the Company that a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on 
the price or value of the Company’s securities. There is also a requirement to correct a false market. A false 
market refers to a market where securities are traded in the absence of price-sensitive information 
having been disclosed or where there is inaccurate or misleading information in the market.
Chapter 4 of the listing rules sets out the periodic disclosure requirements and these fall within 
one of the following categories: • Annual and half yearly fi nancial statements
   • Quarterly cash fl ow reports
   • Trading halts and related events
   • Information relating to the company’s securities.

7.2 Review of ASX announcements
1.  All reasonable effort will be made to provide a draft of the                    

intended ASX release to all Directors for review. The draft release
 will be provided with suffi cient time to enable the recipients to make
 comment prior to the release. All ASX announcements must be approved 
 by at least two Directors.

2.  All announcements must be brought to the attention of the Company 
Secretary prior to release to the ASX to ensure compliance with the listing 
rules. The Chief Executive Offi cer is responsible for ensuring that any factual 
statements in the release have appropriate supporting documentation. The 
Company Secretary shall record the releases sequentially. 

3.  The Chairman, Chief Executive Offi cer and the Company Secretary are the only 
authorised signatories for ASX releases.

4.  All Directors must be provided with a copy of announcements as soon as 
practicable after the release.

5.  Copies of presentation materials given to brokers, institutions or other 
investors, when containing price sensitive information, will be released to the 
market prior to presentation.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Offi cer are the nominated spokespersons 
for communications with brokers and the media. They are also responsible for 
monitoring media and requests from analysts for information.

The Company website will be regularly updated with ASX releases.

8. Risk Management Policy
The purpose of the Risk Management Policy is to identify business risks, assess 
and quantify the risks and to develop and implement a response and monitor 
the risk to the company, its shareholders and employees. The Policy will be 
implemented to allow the company to address adverse occurrences which will 
optimise its opportunities for the benefi t of the shareholders, employees and 
customers. Some of the potential risks to the company are:

• Operational
• Financial
• Foreign exchange
• Interest rate
• Political

• Legal and regulatory
• Environmental
• Health and safety
• Medical
• Information technology



8.1 Policy
The Company is committed to identifying, evaluating and dealing with all real and 
potential risks to the company at regular intervals for the purpose of protecting the interests 
of the company, its shareholders, employees and customers and to ensure that the objectives of the 
company can be met, to mitigate risk and to increase the company’s competitive advantage.

Risk Management is an integral part of all employee activities and is implemented throughout the organisation.  
Management of risk is part of the company’s internal quality auditing process and staff training. Sirtex has 
implemented a regular internal review process for assessing and managing risk as part of the company’s 
commitment to quality management.

‘Sirtex has implemented a regular 
internal review process for assessing 
and managing risk...’

8.2 Roles and Responsibilities Board
The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the company has an adequate and effective risk management 
system and that this system is reviewed at regular intervals. The Board approves the Risk Management Policy and 
receives reports from the Audit Committee on risk management issues.

Board Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is the responsible committee for ensuring that risk management is 
implemented in accordance with Board Policy. The Audit Committee is chaired by a Non-
Executive Member of the Board of Management.

Management
The Board, via the Audit Committee, delegates the operation of the Risk Management 
Policy to the Sirtex Executive Management. The Chief Executive Offi cer (CEO) has delegated 
responsibility to implement the Risk Management Policy within the company.

The CEO will delegate responsibility to Heads of Departments or Sections for implementing 
the Risk Management Policy, relevant Standard Operating Procedures and recommendations 
arising from Risk Management Meetings.

Employees
Risk management is an important function for all Sirtex employees. Employees are required to 
be conversant with the company’s risk management policies, Standard Operating Procedures 
associated with risk management and their employment and to actively participate in risk 
management.

‘The largest documented
benefi t for a patient treated with 
SIR-Spheres microspheres has
been 15 years and still counting.’
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9. Corporate Code of Conduct
The Company wishes to build and maintain a reputation for its integrity. This 
reputation and integrity is the result of the actions of directors and employees 
in their dealings both within and outside the Company.

The objective is to comply with the laws of any jurisdiction where the company 
operates.

Our interpretation of the law shall be in such a way that it enhances the 
Company’s reputation for fair and reasonable conduct at all times. 

Some of the categories of law that the Company will encounter are:

• Competition and Consumer Protection 
• Environmental 
• Privacy 
• Insider Trading
• Occupational Health and Safety
• Equal Opportunity
• Confi dentiality

Confl icts of Interest
Confl icts of interest may arise from time to time. If a confl ict arises immediate 
and full disclosure should be made to the Board and the Board shall manage 
the confl ict so that the interests of the Company are safeguarded. 

Some examples of confl icts that may arise are:

•  When private interests confl ict directly or indirectly with our obligations to 
the Company.

•  When we receive benefi ts (gifts, entertainment etc) from a person doing 
business or seeking to do business with the Company and the benefi t could 
be seen to create some obligation to a party other than the Company.

Use of Company Assets
The Company’s assets which include but are not 
limited to funds, information and equipment will
be used responsibly and in the best interest of
the Company.

•  Excessive benefi ts including but not limited to 
gifts, entertainment, travel and accommodation 
will not be provided to people associated with 
the Company or others.

• T he proprietary nature of the Company’s information
 will not be disclosed and confi dentiality and 
 commercially sensitive information will not be released 
 to a third party without proper authorisation.

•  The Company’s assets will not be used for other than 
business purposes.

Integrity, Honesty and Fairness in the Company’s
Dealings
•  We do not use misleading or oppressive behaviour or falsify or wrongfully 

withhold information to achieve a benefi t for the Company or ourselves.

•  Confi dential information obtained in the course of carrying out our business 
dealings remain the property of the party supplying the information and it is 
improper to disclose or allow it to be disclosed without the consent of that 
party or as required by law.

•  The Company operates in different jurisdictions with different laws, customs 
and business practices. We will recognise these but will not compromise our 
principles in our dealings in these areas.

• We will treat all persons with dignity, regardless of individual differences.

• We promote equality of employment opportunity.

• We are responsible for our actions and accountable for the consequences.

‘The Company wishes to
build and maintain a 
reputation for its integrity.’
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Structure of the Board

Director  Year  Non- Independent Executive Committees Audit
 Appointed  Executive   Remuneration

Dr B. Gray 1997  Yes  No  No - -

G.Boyce 2002 Yes Yes No Member Chairman

R.Hill 2004 Yes Yes No Member Member
Chairman

Dr J. Eady 2005 Yes Yes No Chairman -

G. Wong 2005 No No Yes - -

Compliance with ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best 
Practice Recommendations
1.    Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight                 

   The Sirtex Board supports and has implemented this recommendation 
through the Board Charter and Corporate Governance Guidelines.

2.  Structure the Board to Add Value                                                                                   

During the year the Sirtex Board consisted of six directors: two 
executive and four non executive directors, one executive 
retiring during the year. Three of the four non executive 
directors are independent.

  The role of Chairman became a non executive role in 2006. 
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board in its duties, 
facilitating effective discussions at Board meetings, ensuring 
procedures are in place to evaluate Board performance and 
overseeing shareholder communications.

  The Chief Executive Offi cer is responsible for the effi cient and 
effective operation of the organisation, and for bringing material 
and other relevant matters to the attention of the Board in an 
accurate and timely manner.

  Due to its small size, Sirtex’s whole Board acts as a Nomination Committee.

3.   Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision Making                                                          

The Sirtex Board supports and has implemented this recommendation through the Board Charter.

4.  Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting                                                                                                   

Sirtex supports the concept of an Audit Committee and has always had one whose members have been 
independent Directors. The Audit Committee members have regular contact with the company auditors 
including formal review following each audit and half-year review.

5.  Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure                                                                                                           

The Sirtex Board supports this recommendation and has complied throughout 2006.

6.  Respect the Rights of Shareholders                                                                                                                 

The Sirtex Board supports and has implemented this recommendation.

  Sirtex has adopted a shareholder communication approach that identifi es disclosure and transparency 
as important qualities for shareholders and potential investors. Sirtex aims to provide good quality, clear 
communication with shareholders, using available methods and technologies.

  Sirtex views shareholder meetings as an opportunity for shareholders to meet with and question the Board 
and management of Sirtex. Sirtex external auditor attends all annual general meetings and is available to 
answer shareholder questions.

  Sirtex website, www.sirtex.com, is a key source of information for shareholders and prospective 
shareholders. Sirtex places all company announcements on the site immediately following confi rmation 

 of release to the market.
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  7.  Recognise and Manage Risk                                                                                                                         

Sirtex has in place a comprehensive quality system that is regularly audited by various regulatory bodies from 
around the world. Sirtex takes this responsibility seriously and has committed to put in place appropriate 
procedures for risk management. While the whole Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring the Company 
has an adequate and effective Risk Management Policy, the Board delegates to the Audit Committee to 
report on risk management issues.

  8.  Encourage Enhanced Performance                                                                                                             

Sirtex Board Charter and Corporate Governance Guidelines document the process for evaluating the 
performance of the Board, individual Directors, Board Committees, the Chief Executive Offi cer and key 
Executives. The Remuneration Committee takes responsibility for assessing that the framework and 
processes used for conducting evaluations are appropriate and then makes recommendations to the Board 
in relation to performance of the Chief Executive Offi cer and other key Executives.

 9 .  Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly                                                                                                            

Sirtex supports this recommendation. A Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent Director 
and has been in place for the entire reporting period.

10.  Recognise the Legitimate Interests of Stakeholders                                                                               

The Sirtex Board supports and has implemented this recommendation.

   The Sirtex Board Charter and Corporate Governance Guidelines sets out the principles of code of conduct 
expected of all Sirtex Directors and employees. These guidelines also set the standard for Directors dealing 
with Sirtex obligations to external stakeholders.
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The Directors present their report, together with the Financial Report of Sirtex Medical Limited (Company) and the 
Consolidated Financial Report of the Consolidated Entity, being the Company and its controlled entities, for the 
year ended 30 June 2006, and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Directors
The Directors of the company in offi ce at any time during the fi nancial year were Dr B. Gray, Dr J. Eady, Mr R. Hill, 
Mr G. Boyce, Mr G. Wong and Mr C. Rowland. Information on the Directors and Secretary is presented on page 
12 of the Annual Report.

Directors’ Meetings
The number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number of meetings 
attended by each of the Directors of the company during the fi nancial year are: 

(i) Mr C. Rowland retired as a Director on 25 October 2005. (ii) Dr Gray retired as the Chairman on 22 August 2006.
(iii) Mr R. Hill appointed as Chairman on 22 August 2006. 

Directorships of Other Listed Companies
Directorships of other listed companies held by Directors in the 3 years immediately before the end of the fi nancial 
year are as follows:

Name    Company  Period of Directorship
Dr J. Eady    Ambri Limited  October 2001 - September 2003
Dr J. Eady    Gradipore Limited December 2002 - October 2003
Dr J. Eady    Frigrite Limited  March 2005 - Present
R. Hill     Calliden Limited  2000 - Present

Principal Activities and Review of Operations and Results
The principal activities and a review of the operations of the Consolidated Entity during the year ended 30 June 
2006, and the results of these operations are set out in the CEO Report (page 9-10). 

Other than as discussed in the CEO Report, there were no signifi cant changes in the nature of those activities during 
the year ended 30 June 2006 and the results of those operations are set out in the above-mentioned reports. 

Consolidated Results
The consolidated results for the fi nancial year attributable to the members of the Company are:    
          

Revenue from ordinary activities

Profi t from ordinary activities before related income tax expense

Net profi t attributable to members of the Company

Basic Earnings per share (cents)

Diluted Earnings per share (cents)

Dividends
No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the fi nancial year and the Directors do not recommend 
the payment of a dividend in respect of the fi nancial year (2005: $Nil).

     Directors’ Report

2006
$000

23,929

5,457

1,807

3.2

3.2

2005
$000

12,523

(1,990)

(2,002)

(3.6)

(3.6)

Sirtex Medical Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006

            

Directors

Dr B. Gary (ii)

C. Rowland (i)

G. Boyce

R.Hill (Chairman) (iii)

Dr J. Eady

G. Wong

Held

11

4

11

11

11

11

Attended

11

4

10

10

11

11

Held

-

-

4

4

4

-

Attended

-

-

4

4

4

-

Held

-

-

4

4

-

-

Attended

-

-

4

4

-

-

Board of Directors Remuneration Committee Audit Committee    
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State of Affairs
During the fi nancial year there was no signifi cant change in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity other 
than that referred to in the fi nancial statements or notes thereto.

Likely Developments
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity in future 
fi nancial years and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
Consolidated Entity. Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in this report. Please refer to the CEO 
report for future outlook.

Environmental Regulations
The Consolidated Entity is in compliance with all environmental regulations.

Non-audit Services
The Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committee, is satisfi ed that the provision of non 
audit services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by 
the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfi ed that their services disclosed below did not compromise the 
external auditor’s independence for the following reasons: 

 •  all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to commencement to 
ensure they do not adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and

 •  the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor 
independence as set out in the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and CPA Australia’s 
Professional Statement F1: Professional Independence.

The following fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the year 
ended 30 June 2006:
  $
Taxation services 6,667
  6,667

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor 
are outlined in note 7 to the fi nancial statements.

Adoption of Australian Equivalent to IFRS
As a result of the introduction of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the 
company’s fi nancial report has been prepared in accordance with those standards. A reconciliation of adjustments 
arising of the transition to IFRS is included in Note 2 to this report.

Remuneration Report
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each Director of Sirtex Medical Ltd, and for the 
executives receiving the highest remuneration.

Remuneration Policy
The remuneration policy of Sirtex Medical Ltd has been designed to align Director and executive objectives with 
shareholder and business objectives. The Board of Sirtex Medical Ltd believes the remuneration policy to be 
appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best executives and Directors to run and manage 
the economic entity, as well as create goal congruence between Directors, executives and shareholders.

The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for board members and 
senior executives of the economic entity is as follows:

•  The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive directors and other senior 
executives, was developed by the remuneration committee and approved by the board after seeking 
professional advice from independent external consultants.

•  All executives receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as length of service and experience), 
superannuation, fringe benefi ts, and performance incentives.

     Directors’ Report (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Remuneration Policy (continued)

•   The remuneration committee reviews executive packages annually by reference to the economic entity’s 
performance, executive performance and comparable information from industry sectors and other listed    
companies in similar industries. 

The performance of executives is measured against criteria agreed at least annually directly with the CEO or
through him for his direct reports. The criteria refl ect short and long-term goals and stakeholder interests.

All bonuses and incentives must be linked to predetermined performance criteria. The board may, however,
exercise its discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options, and can recommend changes
to the committee’s recommendations. The policy is designed to attract the highest calibre of executives and
reward them for performance that results in long-term growth in stakeholder value.

The executive Directors and executives receive a superannuation guarantee contribution required by the
government, which is currently 9%, and do not receive any other retirement benefi ts. Some individuals,
however, have chosen to sacrifi ce part of their salary to increase payments towards superannuation.

All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the company and expensed. 

The board policy is to remunerate non-executive Directors at market rates for comparable companies for
time, commitment and responsibilities. The remuneration committee recommends payments to the non-
executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and
accountability. Independent external advice is sought. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can
be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
Fees for non-executive directors are not linked to the performance of the economic entity. 

Performance Based Remuneration
As part of each executive director and executives remuneration package there is a performance-based
component, refl ecting agreed key performance indicators (KPIs). The intention is to facilitate goal congruence 
between directors/executives with that of the business and stakeholders. The KPIs are specifi cally tailored to
the accountabilities of each director/executive. They target areas the board believes hold greater potential for
group expansion and profi t, covering fi nancial and non-fi nancial as well as short and long-term goals.
The level set for each KPI is based on budgeted fi gures for the group and respective industry standards.

Performance in relation to the KPIs is assessed annually, with bonuses being awarded depending on that
performance and its relative effect on Company operations. 

The Remuneration Committee reviews and develops the remuneration policies and review parameters applicable
to all Sirtex employees, and recommends their approval to the Board. It also reviews and recommends approval
by the Board of remuneration packages, terms of employment and termination packages applicable to all
Directors and those Executive offi cers reporting directly to the CEO. Remuneration packages are reviewed with
due regard to performance and other relevant factors. 

    

     Directors’ Report (continued)
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Directors’ and Senior Executives’ Remuneration Details
The following table provides the details of all Directors (specifi ed Directors) and the executives of Sirtex with the 
greatest authority (specifi ed Executives), and each of the fi ve named offi cers of the Company and Consolidated
Entity receiving the highest remuneration. 

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration are: 

Directors

 

(i) Retired as Director on 25/10/05. (ii) Retired as Chairman on 22/08/06. (iii) Appointed as Chairman 22/08/06.

Elements of remuneration related to performance
G. Wong’s remuneration has the following performance based elements:
 • Annual Bonus available up to 25% of base salary; and 
 • Up to further 15% of base salary at the discretion of the Board.
All other Directors’ remuneration does not include performance based elements.
Executive remuneration includes a performance-based element based on KPI’s of the Group.

Specifi ed Executives

    

     Directors’ Report (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006

                    
2006

D. James
Dr S. Jones
N. Lange
A. Leard
Dr M. Van Den
Berg

Total all 
specifi ed
executives 2006
Total all 
specifi ed
executives 2005

Salary &
fees

$

102,836 
114,646 
362,549 
122,906 
117,836 

820,773 

698,565

Bonus

$

42,395 
48,190 
62,476 
52,950
62,221

268,232

-

Non-
monetary

$

17,284
-

45,910 
5,494

-

68,688 

71,791

Super-
annuation

$

13,070 
14,655

-
15,826 
11,426 

54,977 

29,198

Prescribed
benefi ts

$

-
-
-
-
-

-

-

Other

$

-
-
-
-
-

-

-

Options

$

-
-

132,605
-
-

132,605 

209,284

Other
benefi ts

$

-
-
-
-
-

-

-

Total

$

175,585
177,491
603,540
197,176
191,483

1,345,275

1,008,838

Primary Post-employment Equity    

    

    

                

2006

Executive
Directors
C. Rowland (i)

G. Wong
Non-Executive
Directors
Dr B. Gray (ii)

G. Boyce
R. Hill (iii)

Dr J. Eady
Total all
specifi ed
directors 2006
Total all
specifi ed
directors 2005

Salary &
fees

$

169,661 
229,358 

240,217 
45,000 
45,000 
41,284 

770,520

477,038

Bonus

$

53,469 
91,743 

- 
-
-
 -

145,212

-

Non-
monetary

$

12,345
- 

-
- 
-
- 

12,345

6,574

Super-
annuation

$

-
28,999 

12,577
- 
-

3,716 

45,292

19,157

Prescribed
benefi ts

$

-
- 

-
- 
-
- 

-

-

Other

$

267,344 
- 

- 
-
-
 -

267,344

-

Options

$

- 
- 

49,453 
12,363

-
 -

61,816

244,581

Other
benefi ts

$

- 
- 

- 
-
-
 -

-

-

Total

$

502,819 
350,100 

302,247 
57,363
45,000
 45,000

1,302,529

747,350

Primary Post-employment Equity    
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Value of Options issued to Directors and Executives
The following table discloses the value of options granted, exercised or lapsed during the year:

Value of Options – Basis of Calculation
There were no options granted during the year.
(i) Options exercised during the year were granted on 24/08/00.
(ii) Options exercised during the year were granted on 06/03/02.
(iii) Options exercised during the year were granted on 26/07/01.

The total value of Options granted, exercised and lapsed is calculated based on the following:
Fair value of the Option at grant date multiplied by the number of options granted during the year; plus
Fair value of the Option at the time it is exercised multiplied by the number of Options exercised during the year; plus
Fair value of the Option at the time of lapse multiplied by the number of Options lapsed during the year.
Fair value of the Option is calculated using a Black-Scholes model.
 
Share Options
Share options granted to Directors and Executives
During and since the end of the fi nancial year there were no share options granted to the directors or executives of 
the company.

Share options on issue at year end or exercised during the year
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of Sirtex Medical Ltd under option are as follows:

During the year ended 30 June 2006, the following ordinary shares of Sirtex Medical Ltd were issued on the exercise 
of options. No further shares have been issued since that date. No amounts are unpaid on any of the shares.

     Directors’ Report (continued)
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Percentage
of total

remuneration
for the year
that consists
of options

%

16%
22%

-

22%
-
-

Value of options
included in

remuneration
for the year

%

49,453
12,363

-

132,605
-
-

Total value of
options granted,

excerised and
lapsed

%

210,900
-

522,000

-
-

41,850

Options
Lapsed

Value at
time of
lapse

%

-
-
-

-
-
-

Options
Excerised

Value at
exercise

date

%

210,900
-

522,000

-
-

41,850

Options
Granted

Value at
grant
date

%

-
-

-
-
-

Directors
Dr B. Gary (i)

G. Boyce
C. Rowland (ii)

Executives
N. Lange
S. Jones
D. James (iii)

    

        
Expiry date

25/07/06
30/09/08

19/11/06
06/05/07

-

Exercise price
of option

1.26
4.85

4.85
1.25

-

Grant date

26/07/01
01/10/03

04/11/04
07/05/02

-

Number of shares
under options

8,000
200,000

500,000
20,000

728,000

Issuing entity

a)  Executive and Employee Share 
Option Plan

Sirtex Medical Ltd
Sirtex Medical Ltd

(b) Other Share Options
Sirtex Medical Ltd
Sirtex Medical Ltd

Total Number under option
All options are unlisted
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     Directors’ Report (continued)

Share options on issue at year end or exercised during the year (continued)

Directors’ Interests 
The relevant interest of each director in the share capital of the Company, as notifi ed by the directors to the ASX in 
accordance with section 205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this Report is as follows: 

Indemnifi cation of Offi cers and Auditors
During or since the fi nancial year, the company has paid premiums to insure each of the directors of the Group against 
liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct 
while acting in the capacity of director of the company, other than conduct involving a willful breach of duty in 
relation to the company. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount   
of the premium.

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the fi nancial year, indemnifi ed or made a relevant agreement to 
indemnify an offi cer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such   
an offi cer or auditor.

Events Subsequent to Reporting Date
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the fi nancial statements or notes 
thereto, that has arisen since the end of the fi nancial year, that has signifi cantly affected, or may signifi cantly affect, 
the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated 
Entity in future fi nancial years. Refer to note 38 for further information.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2006 has been received and can be found on 
page 33 of the fi nancial report.

Rounding off of Amounts
The company is an entity to which ASIC Class Order 98/0100 applies and, accordingly, amounts in the fi nancial 
statements and directors’ report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the Directors

Richard Hill Gilman Wong
Director Director                Sydney, August 23, 2006

Sirtex Medical Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

Amount unpaid 
on shares 

-
-
-

Amount paid
for shares

1.00
1.26
1.68

Class of
shares

ORD
ORD
ORD

ORD

Number of shares
issued

159,154
15,000

180,000

354,154

Issuing entity

Sirtex Medical Ltd
Sirtex Medical Ltd
Sirtex Medical Ltd

Total Shares Issued on Excercise
of Option

    

        

2006
Fully paid

ordinary shares

17,472,283
5,000

-
-
-

Directors

Dr B. Gray (Chairman)
G. Boyce
R. Hill
Dr J. Eady
G. Wong

2006
Director & executive 

share options

400,000
100,000

-
-
-

2005
Fully paid

ordinary shares

17,308,283
5,000

-
-
-

2005
Director & executive 

share options

514,000
100,000

-
-
-
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The directors of the company declare that:

1.  the fi nancial statements and notes, as set out on pages 36 to 75 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001 and:

 a. comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

 b.  give a true and fair view of the company’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 2006 and of its performance     
for the year ended on that date of the company and economic entity;

2.  the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 have been obtained from the Chief 
Executive Offi cer and Chief Finance Offi cer;

3.   in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

On behalf of the Directors

Richard Hill Gilman Wong
Director  Director

Sydney, August 23, 2006

     Directors’ Declaration 
Sirtex Medical Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006
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     Auditors’ Independence Declaration 
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     Independent Audit Report
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     Independent Audit Report (continued)
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 Consolidated  Company

 Note 2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue from the sales of goods  22,559 11,836  -  -

Cost of sales   (4,652)  (2,984)  -  -

Gross profi t   17,907  8,852  -  -

Other revenue from ordinary activities   1,370  687  3,399  2,680

Depreciation & Amortisation   (379)  (365)  (310)  (299)

Marketing Expenses   (8,932)  (6,358)  -  (83)

Research Expenditure   (592)  (520)  (591)  (519)

Occupancy Expenses   (233)  (269)  (124)  (146)

Regulatory Expenses   (177)  (130)  (132)  (120)

Quality Assurance   (53) (50)  (53)  (50)

Clinical Trials   (312)  (425)  (212)  (406)

Administration Expenses   (2,963)  (2,772)  (2,501)  (2,134)

Other expenses from ordinary activities   (179)  (640)  (34)  (404)

Profi t /(loss) from ordinary activities before

income tax expense  3  5,457  (1,990)  (558)  (1,481)

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities 4  (3,650)  (12)  (3,248)  (732)

Net profi t/(loss) attributable to members of

the parent entity  1,807  (2,002)  (3,806)  (2,213)

 

  2006 2005
  Cents Cents

Earnings per share

Basic (cents per share)  27  3.2  (3.6)

Diluted (cents per share)  27  3.2  (3.6)

Notes to the fi nancial statements are included on pages 41 to 75.

      Consolidated Income Statement
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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 Consolidated  Company

 Note 2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents   4,516  1,317  2,707  186

Trade and other receivables  8  5,427  3,881  5,358  3,226

Inventories  10  198  121  -  -

Financial assets  11  6,387  5,583  78  5,583

Current tax assets  9  18  18  18  18

Total current assets   16,546  10,920  8,161  9,013

Non-current assets

Investments  12  -  -  41  41

Property, plant and equipment  13  3,877  3,185  506  685

Intangible assets  14  1,954  2,134  1,954  2,134

Deferred tax assets  15  2,663  3,776  408  916

Total non-current assets   8,494  9,095  2,909  3,776

Total assets   25,040  20,015  11,070  12,789

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  16  2,403  1,802  871  1,733

Short-term borrowings  17  80  84  -  -

Current tax liabilities  18  2,441  276  2,419  51

Short-term provisions  19  85  149  52  94

Other current liabilities  20  39  59  39  59

Total current liabilities   5,048  2,370  3,381  1,937

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings  21  863  862  -  -

Long-term provisions  22  52  63  23  50

Total non-current liabilities   915  925  23  50

Total liabilities   5,963  3,295  3,404  1,987

Net assets   19,077  16,720  7,666  10,802

Equity

Issued capital  26  23,489  23,013  23,489  23,013

Reserves 25  691  617  638  444

Accumulated losses   (5,103)  (6,910)  (16,461)  (12,655)

Total equity   19,077  16,720  7,666  10,802

Notes to the fi nancial statements are included on pages 41 to 75.

      Consolidated Balance Sheet
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities as at 30 June 2006
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 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

 Share Reserves Reserves
 Capital  

 Ordinary Option Translation Accumulated Total

Consolidated Entity            Reserve           Reserve losses

Balance at 01.07.2004 pre A-IFRS  22,960  -  -  (4,790)  18,170

A-IFRS adjust to accumulated losses  - 146 - (118) 28

Balance at 01.07.2004 post A-IFRS  22,960 146 - (4,908) 18,198

A-IFRS foreign currency reserve  -  -  173  -  173

Net income recognised directly in equity  - - 173 - 173

Loss attributable to members of

parent entity  - - - (2,002) (2,002)

Total recognised income and

expense for the period  - - 173 (2,002) (1,829)

A-IFRS share based payments  -   298   -   -   298

Share issue on conversion of options  53  -  -  -  53

Sub-total  23,013   444   173  (6,910)   16,720

Dividends paid or provided for  -     -   -   -

Balance at 30.06.2005 23,013   444   173   (6,910)   16,720

Balance at 01.07.2005 post A-IFRS  23,013  44  173  (6,910)  16,720

Shares issued during the year  480   -   -   -   480

Share issue costs capitalised  (4)   -   -   -   (4)

A-IFRS share based payments  -   194   -   -   194

A-IFRS foreign currency reserve  -  -  (120)  -  (120)

Net income recognised directly in equity  -  -  53  -  53 

Profi t attributable to members of

parent entity -  -  -  1,807  1,807

Total recognised income and

expense for the period  -  -  53  1,807  1,860

Sub-total  23,489   638   53   (5,103)   19,077

Dividends paid or provided for  -   -   -   -   -

Balance at 30.06.2006  23,489   638   53   (5,103)   19,077

Notes to the fi nancial statements are included on pages 41 to 75.

      Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

 Share Reserves Reserves
 Capital  

 Ordinary Option Translation Accumulated Total

Company            Reserve           Reserve losses

Balance at 01.07.2004 pre A-IFRS  22,960  -  -  (10,298)  12,662

A-IFRS adjust to accumulated losses  - 146 - (147) (1)

Balance at 01.07.2004 post A-IFRS  22,960 146 - (10,445) 12,661

A-IFRS foreign currency reserve  -  -  -  -  -

A-IFRS other adjustment  -  -  -  3  3

Net income recognised directly in equity  - - - - -

Loss attributable to members of

parent entity  - - - (2,213) (2,213)

Total recognised income and

expense for the period  - - - (2,213) (2,213)

A-IFRS share based payments  -  298  -  -  298

Share issue on conversion of options  53 - - - 53

Sub-total  23,013  444  - (12,655)  10,802

Dividends paid or provided for  -  - -  -  -

Balance at 30.06.2005 23,013  444  -  (12,655)  10,802

Balance at 01.07.2005 post A-IFRS  23,013 444 - (12,655) 10,802

Shares issued during the year  480 - - -  480

Share issue costs capitalised  (4)  -  -  -  (4)

A-IFRS share based payments  -  194 -  -  194

A-IFRS foreign currency reserve  - - - - -

Net income recognised directly in equity  - - - - - 

Loss attributable to members of

parent entity - - - (3,806) (3,806) 

Total recognised income and

expense for the period  - - - (3,806) (3,806) 

Sub-total  23,489  638  -  (16,461)  7,666

Dividends paid or provided for  -  - -  -  -

Balance at 30.06.2006  23,489  638  -  (16,461)  7,666

Notes to the fi nancial statements are included on pages 41 to 75.

      Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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 Consolidated  Company

 Note 2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash fl ows from operating activities

Receipts from customers  21,025 9,918 626 849

Payments to suppliers and employees  (17,152) (12,194) (4,160)  (3,119)

Interest and bill discounts received   431  490  247  408

Interest and other costs of fi nance paid  (55)  (46)  (7)  (3)

Other income received – Grants & Misc   439  -  261  -

Income tax paid   (422)  -  (422)  -

Net cash used in operating activities  35(d)  4,266  (1,832)  (3,455)  (1,865)

Cash fl ows from investing activities

Payment for property, plant and equipment   (650)  (1,448)  -  (541)

Net cash used in investing activities   (650)  (1,448)  -  (541)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities

Proceeds from issues of equity securities   476  53  476  53

Repayment of borrowings   (84)  (127)  -  -

Net cash provided by/(used in) fi nancing activities   392  (74)  476  53

Net (increase)/decrease in cash held   4,008  (3,354)  (2,979)  (2,353)

Cash at the beginning of the fi nancial year   6,817  10,171  5,686  8,039

Cash at the end of the fi nancial year  35(a)  10,825  6,817  2,707  5,686

Notes to the fi nancial statements are included on pages 41 to 75.

Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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      Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Statement of Signifi cant Accounting Policies
  The signifi cant policies which have been adopted in the preparation of this Financial Report are:       

 The fi nancial report is a general-purpose fi nancial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus views, other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. It has been prepared on the basis of 
historical cost and except where stated, does not take into account changing money values or fair values of  
non-current assets.

  These accounting policies have been consistently applied by each entity in the Consolidated Entity and, except 
where there is a change in accounting policy as disclosed in Note 2, are consistent with those of the previous 
fi nancial year. Unless otherwise stated, these accounts have been prepared in Australian dollars.

   The fi nancial report of Sirtex Medical Ltd and controlled entities, and Sirtex Medical Ltd as an individual parent 
entity, complies with Australian Accounting Standards which include Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (A-IFRS) in their entirety. Compliance with A-IFRS ensures that the fi nancial report 
also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in their entirety

 Basis of preparation
 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards
  The consolidated entity and controlled entities have prepared fi nancial statements in accordance with the 

Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) from 1 July 2005.

  In accordance with the requirements of AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards, adjustments to the parent entity and consolidated entity accounts resulting from 
the introduction of IFRS have been applied retrospectively to 2005 comparative fi gures. These consolidated 
accounts are the fi rst fi nancial statements of Sirtex Medical Ltd to be prepared in accordance with Australian 
equivalents to IFRS.

  Reconciliations of the transition from previous Australian GAAP to IFRS have been included in Note 2 to          
this report

 (a) Principles of consolidation
     The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Consolidated Entity include the fi nancial statements of the 

Company, being the parent entity, and its controlled entities. Where an entity either began or ceased to be 
controlled during the fi nancial year, the results are included only from the date control commenced or up   
to the date control ceased. The balances, and effects of transactions, between controlled entities included  
in the consolidated fi nancial statements have been eliminated.

 (b) Revenue recognition
    Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of goods and services 

tax (GST).

 Sales Revenue
  Sales revenue comprises revenue earned (net of returns, discounts and allowances) from the provision of 

products or services to entities outside the Consolidated Entity. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised 
when control of the goods passes to the customer.

 Interest Income
  Interest income is recognised as it accrues.

 Other Revenue
 Other revenue is recognised when the entitlement is confi rmed.

 Grant Income
  Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that, the entity will comply with the 

conditions attaching to them; and the grants will be received.

 Sales of non-current assets
  The gross proceeds of non-current asset sales are recognised as revenue at the date control of the asset passes 

to the buyer, usually when an unconditional contract of sale is signed. The gain or loss on disposal is
  calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net 

proceeds on disposal (including incidental costs).

Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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1. Statement of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (continued)

  (c) Goods and services tax
    Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 

where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Offi ce (ATO). In these 
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of  
the expense.

   Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

    The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability        
in the balance sheet.

    Cash fl ows are included in the cash fl ow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash fl ows 
arising from investing and fi nancing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are              
classifi ed as operating cash fl ows.

 
 (d) Foreign currency
   Transactions
    All foreign currency transactions are translated to Australian Dollars at the rates of exchange ruling at 

the dates of the transactions. Amounts receivable and payable in foreign currencies at reporting date are 
translated at the rates of exchange ruling on that date.

    Exchange differences relating to amounts receivable and payable in foreign currencies are brought to account 
as exchange gains or losses in the statement of fi nancial performance in the fi nancial year in which the 
exchange rates change, except where:

    -  Relating to amounts receivable or payable in foreign currency forming part of a net investment in a self-
sustaining foreign operation. In this case, the exchange difference, together with any related income tax 
expense/revenue, is transferred to the foreign currency translation reserve on consolidation.

   Translation of controlled foreign entities
     The assets and liabilities of controlled foreign entities are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at 

reporting date. Equity items are translated at historical rates. The income statement is translated at the 
average rate for the fi nancial year. Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to the    
foreign currency translation reserve.

 
 (e) Provisions
     A provision is recognised when there is a legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past   

event and it is probable that a future sacrifi ce of economic benefi t will be required to settle the obligation,            
the timing or amount of which is uncertain.

 
 (f) Classifi cation of assets and liabilities
     Assets and liabilities have been classifi ed in the balance sheet as either current or non-current. Current assets 

are cash assets and other assets that would in the ordinary course of business be consumed or converted to 
cash within 12 months. Current liabilities are liabilities that would in the ordinary course of business be due 
and payable within 12 months.

 
 (g) Research and development costs
     Research costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. Development costs are recognised as assets to 

the extent they are technically and commercially feasible.

 (h) Intangible assets
   Intellectual property
     The fair value of intellectual property contributed by an outside equity interest holder to Sirtex Medical Ltd, 

has been capitalised and recorded at fair value at the time of the contribution. The asset will be amortised   
on a straight-line basis over a period of 20 years.

 (i) Acquisition of assets
     All assets acquired, including plant and equipment and intangibles other than goodwill, are initially recorded 

at their cost of acquisition, being fair value of the consideration provided plus incidental costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition and depreciation or amortisation as outlined below.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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1. Statement of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (continued)

 (i) Acquisition of assets (continued) 
   The cost of plant and equipment constructed by the Consolidated Entity includes the cost of material and 

direct labour, an appropriate proportion of fi xed and variable overheads and capitalised interest. 

  Carrying value
    All items of plant and equipment are carried at the lower of cost less accumulated depreciated and 

amortisation, and their recoverable amount.
 
 (j) Depreciation and amortisation
   Items of plant and equipment, including leasehold assets, are depreciated or amortised on a reducing 

balance basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life. Assets are 
depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from 
the time an asset is completed and held ready for use.

   Depreciation and amortisation rates are reviewed annually for appropriateness. When changes are made, 
adjustments are refl ected prospectively in current and future fi nancial periods only.

  The annual depreciation and amortisation rates used for each class of asset are as follows:
  Plant & Equipment 20%-50%
  Intellectual Property 5%
 
 (k) Impairment of assets
   At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell     
and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over   
its recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement.

   Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates   
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 (l) Leased assets
  Operating leases
   Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, 

except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefi ts to be derived from     
the leased property.

  Lease incentives
   In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into non-cancellable operating leases, such 

incentives are recognised as a liability. Lease payments are allocated between rental expense, reduction    
of the liability and, where appropriate, interest expense over the term of the lease.

 (m) Inventories
  Inventories are carried at lower of cost and net realisable value.

 (n)  Investments
  Controlled entities
   Investments in controlled entities are carried in the Company’s fi nancial statements at cost. All intragroup 

transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
 
 (o) Employee benefi ts
  Wages, salaries and annual leave
   Liabilities for employee benefi ts for wages, salaries and annual leave expected to settle within 12 months 

of the year end represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided up to reporting 
date, calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the 

   Consolidated Entity expects to pay as at reporting date including related on costs, such as workers’ 
compensation insurance and payroll tax. Employee benefi ts expected to be settled beyond 12 months are 
carried at the present value of the estimated future cash fl ows.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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1. Statement of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 (o) Employee benefi ts (continued)
  Long service leave
   The provision for employee benefi ts to long service leave represents the present value of estimated future 

cash outfl ows to be made by the employer resulting from employees’ services provided up to reporting 
date. The provision is calculated using expected future increases in remuneration rates, including related 
costs, and expected settlement dates based on turnover history, and is discounted using the rates attaching 
to national government securities at reporting date, which most closely match the terms of maturity of the 
related liabilities.

  Equity-settled compensation
   The group operates a number of share-based compensation plans. These include both a share option 

arrangement and an employee share scheme. The bonus element over the exercise price of the employee 
services rendered in exchange for the grant of shares and options is recognised as an expense in the  
income statement. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference     
to the fair value of the shares of the options granted.

  Superannuation plans
    The Consolidated Entity contributes to various employee superannuation plans. Contributions are charged 

against expense as they are made.

 (p) Receivables
    Trade debtor terms vary from market to market depending on the economic factors relevant to the 

individual market. The Consolidated Entity has actual trading terms ranging up to 120 debtor days. The 
collectability of debts is assessed at reporting date and allowance made for any doubtful accounts.

    The allowance for doubtful debts is specifi c with reference to the profi le of debtors in the Consolidated 
Entity’s sales and marketing regions.

  Credit risk
   The credit risk related to the trade debtors of the Consolidated Entity which have been recognised and the 

carrying amount on the statement of fi nancial position is net of any allowance for doubtful debts.
   The Consolidated Entity trades in more that 10 countries and at the end of the fi nancial year there was no 

adverse material exposure to any individual overseas country or individual customer other than as allowed 
for in the fi nancial statements.

 (q) Taxation
    The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profi t for the year adjusted for any 

nonassessable or disallowed items. It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are 
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date. 

   Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the fi nancial 
statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, 
excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profi t or loss.

   Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised 
or liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it relates to items that 
may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.

   Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profi ts will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

   The amount of benefi ts brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the 
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the 
economic entity will derive suffi cient future assessable income to enable the benefi t to be realised and 
comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law. Sirtex Medical Ltd and its wholly-owned 
Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime.

   Each entity in the group recognises its own current and deferred tax liabilities, except for any deferred tax 
liabilities resulting from unused tax losses and tax credits, which are immediately assumed by the parent 
entity. The current tax liability of each group entity is then subsequently assumed by the parent entity. The 
group notifi ed the ATO that it had formed an income tax consolidated group to apply from 1 July 2004. 

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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1. Statement of Signifi cant Accounting Policies (continued)

 (q) Taxation (continued)
    The tax consolidated group has entered a tax sharing agreement whereby each company in the group 

contributes to the income tax payable in proportion to their contribution to the net profi t before tax of the 
consolidated group.

 (r) Accounts payable
   Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or 

not billed to the Company or Consolidated Entity.
 
 (s) Interest bearing liabilities
   Bank loans are carried in the statement of balance sheet at their principal amount. Interest expense is 

recognised on an accruals basis.

 (t) Comparatives
   Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassifi ed to achieve consistency in disclosure with 

current fi nancial year amounts and other disclosures.

 (u) Earnings per share
   Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the net profi t attributable to members of the parent 

entity for the fi nancial period, after excluding any costs of servicing equity (other than ordinary shares) by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company, adjusted for any bonus issue.

   Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic EPS earnings, adjusted by the after tax effect of fi nancing 
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the effect on revenues and expenses of 
conversion to ordinary shares associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares of the Company adjusted for any bonus 
issue.

 (v) Borrowing costs
   Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily 

take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

  All other borrowing costs are recognised in income in the period in which they are incurred.

 (w) Financial instruments issued by the company
  Recognition
   Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs, when 

the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are 
measured as set out below.

  Loans and receivables
   Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

  Financial Liabilities
   Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal 

payments and amortisation. 

 (x) Cash and cash equivalents
  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with banks.

 (y) Key estimates – impairment
   The group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specifi c to the group that 

may lead to impairment of assets. Where an impairment exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
determined. Value-in-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number    
of key estimates. No impairment has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2006.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

NOTE 2: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS

  Previous Effect of AIFRS at
 Note GAAP at Transition to 1 July 2004
  1 July 2004 AIFRS
  $000 $000 $000

Consolidated Entity

Reconciliation of Equity at 1 July 2004

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents   2,271 - 2,271 

Trade and other receivables    2,581 12 2,593

Inventories    127 - 127 

Financial assets    7,983 - 7,983

Current tax assets    397 13 410

Total current assets   13,359 25 13,384

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment    1,918 12 1,930

Intangible assets    2,314 - 2,314

Deferred tax assets    3,200 12 3,212

Total non-current assets   7,432 24 7,456

Total assets   20,791 49 20,840

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables    1,245 8 1,253

Short-term borrowings    27 - 27

Current tax liabilities    48 10 58

Short-term provisions    181 - 181

Other current liabilities    34 (6) 28

Total current liabilities   1,535 12 1,547

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings    1,042 9 1,051 

Long-term provisions    44 - 44

Total non-current liabilities   1,086 9 1,095

Total liabilities   2,621 21 2,642

Net assets   18,170 28 18,198

Equity

Issued capital    22,960 - 22,960

Reserves   2b - 146 146

Accumulated losses  2d (4,790) (118) (4,908) 

Total equity   18,170 28 18,198
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      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

NOTE 2: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

  Previous Effect of AIFRS at
 Note GAAP at Transition to 30 June 2005
  30 June 2005 AIFRS
  $000 $000 $000

Consolidated Entity

Reconciliation of Equity at 30 June 2005

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  1,314 3 1,317 

Trade and other receivables    3,890 (9) 3,881

Inventories    121 - 121 

Financial assets    5,583 - 5,583

Current tax assets    18 - 18

Total current assets   10,926 (6) 10,920

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment    3,176 9 3,185

Intangible assets    2,134 - 2,134

Deferred tax assets    3,776 - 3,776

Total non-current assets   9,086 9 9,095

Total assets   20,012 3 20,015

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables    1,802 - 1,802

Short-term borrowings    84 - 84

Current tax liabilities    275 1 276

Short-term provisions    149 - 149

Other current liabilities   2a - 59 59

Total current liabilities   2,310 60 2,370

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings    858 4 862 

Long-term provisions    63 - 63

Total non-current liabilities   921 4 925

Total liabilities   3,231 64 3,295

Net assets   16,781 (61) 16,720

Equity

Issued capital    23,013 - 23,013

Reserves 2d - 617 617

Accumulated losses 2d (6,232) (678) (6,910) 

Total equity   16,781 (61) 16,720
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      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

NOTE 2: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

  Previous Effect of AIFRS at
 Note GAAP at Transition to 1 July 2004
  1 July 2004 AIFRS
  $000 $000 $000

Parent Entity

Reconciliation of Equity at 1 July 2004

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  139 - 139 

Trade and other receivables    2,323 (110) 2,213

Inventories    - - - 

Financial assets    7,983 - 7,983

Current tax assets    8 10 18

Total current assets   10,453 100 10,353

Non-current assets

Investments  42 - 42

Property, plant and equipment    274 - 274

Intangible assets    2,314 - 2,314

Deferred tax assets    1,607 - 1,607

Total non-current assets   4,237 - 4,237

Total assets   14,690 100 14,590

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables    1,861 (99) 1,762

Short-term borrowings    - - -

Current tax liabilities    - - -

Short-term provisions    95 - 95

Other current liabilities    34 - 34

Total current liabilities   1,990 (99) 1,891

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings    - - - 

Long-term provisions    38 - 38

Total non-current liabilities   38 - 38

Total liabilities   2,028 (99) 1,929

Net assets   12,662 1 12,661

Equity

Issued capital    22,960 - 22,960

Reserves 2b - 146 146

Accumulated losses 2d (10,298) (147) (10,445) 

Total equity   12,662 (1) 12,661
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      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

NOTE 2: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

  Previous Effect of AIFRS at
 Note GAAP at Transition to 30 June 2005
  30 June 2005 AIFRS
  $000 $000 $000

Parent Entity

Reconciliation of Equity at 30 June 2005

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  186 - 186 

Trade and other receivables    3,226 - 3,226

Inventories    - - - 

Financial assets    5,583 - 5,583

Current tax assets    18 - 18

Total current assets   9,013 - 9,013

Non-current assets

Investments  41 - 41

Property, plant and equipment    685 - 685

Intangible assets    2,134 - 2,134

Deferred tax assets    916 - 916

Total non-current assets   3,776 - 3,776

Total assets   12,789 - 12,789

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables    1,733 - 1,733

Short-term borrowings    - - -

Current tax liabilities    51 - 51

Short-term provisions    94 - 94

Other current liabilities  2a - 59 59

Total current liabilities   1,878 59 1,937

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings    - - - 

Long-term provisions    50 - 50

Total non-current liabilities   50 - 50

Total liabilities   1,928 59 1,987

Net assets   10,861 (59) 10,802

Equity

Issued capital    23,013 - 23,013

Reserves 2d - 444 444

Accumulated losses 2d (12,152) (503) (12,655)

Total equity   10,861 (59) 10,802
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      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

NOTE 2: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

  Previous Effect of AIFRS
 Note GAAP Transition to
   AIFRS
  2005 2005 2005
  $000 $000 $000

Parent Entity

Reconciliation of Profi t or Loss 2005

Revenue from the sales of goods   11,830  6  11,836

Cost of sales   (2,979)  (5)  (2,984)

Gross profi t   8,851  1  8,852

Other revenue from ordinary activities   729  (42)  687

Depreciation & amortisation   (370)  5 (365)

Marketing expenses   (6,355)  (3) (6,358)

Research expenditure   (520)  - (520)

Occupancy expenses   (269)  - (269)

Regulatory expenses   (130)  - (130)

Quality assurance   (50)  - (50)

Clinical trials   (425)  - (425)

Administration expenses   (2,408)  (364) (2,772)

Other expenses from ordinary activities   (483)  (157)  (640)

Profi t /(loss) from ordinary activities before income

tax expense  (1,430)  (560)  (1,990)

Income tax (expense)/benefi t relating to ordinary activities  (12)  -  (12)

Net profi t/(loss) attributable to members of the

parent entity  (1,442)  (560)  (2,002) 
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      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

NOTE 2: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

  Previous Effect of AIFRS
 Note GAAP Transition to
   AIFRS
  2005 2005 2005
  $000 $000 $000

Parent Entity

Reconciliation of Profi t or Loss 2005

Revenue from the sales of goods   - - -

Cost of sales   - - -

Gross profi t   - - -

Other revenue from ordinary activities   2,680  -  2,680

Depreciation & amortisation   (310)  11 (299)

Marketing expenses   (83)  - (83)

Research expenditure   (530)  11 (519)

Occupancy expenses   (146)  - (146)

Regulatory expenses   (120)  - (120)

Quality assurance   (49) (1) (50)

Clinical trials   (406)  - (406)

Administration expenses   (1,789)  (345) (2,134)

Other expenses from ordinary activities   (369)  (35)  (404)

Profi t /(loss) from ordinary activities before income

tax expense  (1,122)  (359)  (1,481)

Income tax (expense)/benefi t relating to ordinary activities  (732)  -  (732)

Net profi t/(loss) attributable to members of the

parent entity  (1,854)  (359)  (2,213) 
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      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

NOTE 2: FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS

Notes to the Reconciliations of Equity and Profi t and
Loss at 1 July 2004, and 30 June 2005. 30.6.2005 1.7.2004

   $000 $000

 (a) Operating lease expense: Consolidated  59  -

 (a) Operating lease expense: Parent Entity  59  -

   Under AASB 117, operating lease payments are to be expensed on a straight- line basis over the life of the 
lease period. Under previous GAAP, lease payments were expensed as paid which did not take into account 
incremental lease costs over the lease term. Operating lease payments of $59,000 have been charged to     
full year income statement for the year ended 30 June 2005 which also relate to a lease incentive previously 
not recorded as a liability.

 (b) Share based payments: Consolidated  298  146

 (b) Share based payments: Parent Entity  298  146

   Under AASB2, share-based payment transactions are to be recognized in the fi nancial statements. Share 
based compensation granted is to be recognized as an expense. Share based compensation is measured at   
the fair value of the share options determined at grant date and recognized over the expected vesting period 
of the options.

   Under previous GAAP, share based compensation granted was not recognized as an expense. The recognition 
of the expense will decrease the consolidated entity’s opening retained earnings on initial adoption of A-IFRS 
and increase equity by the same amount for the share based payments issued after 7 November 2002 but  
not vested before 1 July 2005.

 (c) Foreign exchange: Consolidated  173  -

 (c) Foreign exchange: Parent Entity  -  -

   Under AASB 121: The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: All foreign currency transactions are       
to be recorded at the spot rate at the date of the transaction for initial recognition. Outstanding monetary 
items are to be retranslated at the closing rate for the month. All exchange differences arising on translation 
to the presentation currency, will be recognized as a separate part of equity, Foreign Currency Translation 
Reserve.

   Under previous GAAP, foreign currency transactions were accounted for on a temporal method of 
accounting for foreign exchange. All transactions were recorded at an average rate. All differences arising on 
consolidation were recorded in the P&L statement as unrealized gain/losses. These differences will now be 
recorded as part of equity in Foreign Currency Translation Reserve.

 (d) Accumulated losses comprise: Consolidated  $000  $000

  Operating lease  59  -

  Share based payments  444  146

  Foreign exchange  173  -

  Other  2  (28)

   678  118

 (d) Accumulated losses comprise: Parent Entity

  Operating lease  59  -

  Share based payments  444  146

  Other  -  1

   503  147
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 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

3. Profi t from Ordinary Activities
  Profi t from ordinary activities before income tax

 includes the following items of revenue and expense:

 (a) Operating revenue

  Revenue from the sale of goods  22,559  11,836  - -

  Rental revenue:

   Operating lease rental revenue  35  24  - -

  Other Revenue:

   Government Grant  233  197  233  197

   License and Management Fees  -  -  2,895  1,966

  Interest revenue:

   Wholly-owned controlled entities  -  -  -  -

   Other entities  426  447  242  408

  Net foreign exchange gain:  505  -  -  32

  Other  171  19  29  77

     23,929 12,523 3,399 2,680

 (b) Expenses  

  Cost of sales  4,652  2,984  -  -

  Net bad and doubtful debts arising from:

   Wholly-owned controlled entities  -  -  -  -

   Other entities  30  164  -  -

  Depreciation of non-current assets:

   Property, plant and equipment  199  185  130  130

  Amortisation of non-current assets:

   Other intangibles  180  180  180  180

  Operating lease rental expenses:

   Minimum lease payments  233  269  124  146

  Net transfers to provisions:

   Other:

       Employee  75  22  69  11

  Net foreign exchange loss  -  576  5  -

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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 Consolidated  Company

    2006 2005 2006 2005
    $000 $000 $000 $000

4. Income Tax Expense
  (a)  The components of tax expense comprise:

  Current tax  2,996  1,484  3,199  826

  Deferred tax  1,113  (687)  508  691

  Recoupment of prior year losses  (459)  (785)  (459)  (785)

  Under provision in respect of prior years  -  -  -  -

     3,650 12 3,248 732

 (b) The prima facie tax on profi t from ordinary
  activities before income tax is reconciled to
  the income tax as follows:  

  Prima facie tax payable on profi t from ordinary
  activities before income tax at 30% (2005: 30%)  1,638  (429)  (167) (337)

  Add/(less): Tax effect of:

   - Non deductible amortisation  54  54  54  54

   - Non-deductible expenses  56  1  56  2

   - Tax deductible items  (69)  (69)  (69)  (69)

   - Research and development  -  (30)  -  (30)

  Effect of higher tax rates of tax on overseas income  (139)  (193)  -  -

  Effect on Foreign Currency translation of tax balances 78  70  -  -

  Recognition of timing differences and tax losses not
  previously bought to account as a result of overseas
  entities converting from cash basis to accruals basis 776  -  -  -

  Timing differences and tax losses not brought to
  account as deferred tax assets 1,256  608  -  -

  Impact of the tax consolidation system:

  Initial recognition of deferred tax balances of subsidiaries
  on implementation of the tax consolidation system -  -  -  -

  Current and deferred taxes relating to transactions,
  events and balances of wholly-owned subsidiaries
  in the tax consolidated group -  -  3,374  1,112

  Income tax attributable to entity  3,650  12  3,248  732

  The applicable weighted average effective tax rates
  are as follows: 67%  0%  0%  0%

 (c) Franking Account

  (i) Franking Account Balance 575  -  575  -

Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its Australian resident wholly-owned entities, to elect to consolidate and be 
treated as a single entity for income tax purposes was substantively enacted on 21 October 2002. This legislation, which includes both 
mandatory and elective elements, is applicable to the company. The directors elected for those entities within the consolidated entity
that are wholly-owned Australian resident entities to be taxed as single entity from 1 July 2004. The implementation of the tax 
consolidation system was notifi ed to the Australian Tax Offi ce. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group for the purposes of 
the tax consolidation system is Sirtex Medical Limited.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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5. Key Management Personnel Compensation
 The specifi ed Directors of Sirtex Medical Ltd who were key management personnel during the year were:
 •   Dr Bruce Gray (Non-Executive Director). Retired as Chairman 22 August 2006.
 •   Grant Boyce (Non-Executive Director).
 •   Charles Rowland (Executive Director, President Sirtex Medical Inc), Retired 25 October 2005.
 •    Richard Hill (Non-Executive Chairman), Appointed Director 1 September 2004 and Chairman 22 August 2006.
 •   Dr John Eady (Non-Executive Director), Appointed 1 March 2005.
 •   Gilman Wong (Chief Executive Offi cer), Appointed CEO on 26 May 2005 and Director on 28 June 2005.
 
 The specifi ed Executives of Sirtex Medical Ltd who were key management personnel during the year were:
 •   Nigel Lange (CEO Sirtex Medical Europe GmbH).
 •   Angela Leard (Chief Financial Offi cer & Company Secretary), Appointed 4 July 2005.
 •   Dr David James (Operations Manager).
 •   Dr Marius Van Den Berg (Sales & Marketing Manager).
 •   Dr Stephen Jones (Research & Development Manager). 

Specifi ed Directors’ and specifi ed Executives’ remuneration 

(i) Retired as Director on 25/10/05. In March 2006, Sirtex Medical Inc. paid USD$200,000 termination payment to Mr C. Rowland, as CEO 
of Sirtex Medical Inc. 

(ii) Sirtex Medical Ltd paid consulting fees of $90,450 (excl GST) to Executive Leasing Australia Pty Ltd for G Wong services for the period 
16/02/05 to 24/05/05.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

                    

Dr Bruce Gray  240,217  -  -  12,577  -  -  49,453  302,247  -

Grant Boyce  45,000  -  -  -  -  -  12,363  57,363  -

Charles Rowland(i)  169,661  53,469  12,345  -  -  267,344  -  502,819  11%

Richard Hill  45,000  -  -  -  -  -  -  45,000  -

Dr John Eady  41,284  -  -  3,716  -  -  -  45,000  -

Gilman Wong  229,358  91,743  -  28,999  -  -  -  350,100  26%

 770,520  145,212  12,345  45,292  -  267,344  61,816  1,302,529 -

Salary
& fees

$

Bonus

$

Non-
monetary

$

Super

$

Prescribed
benefi ts

$

Other

$

Options

$

Total

$

Perf
Related

%

Primary Post-employment Equity

Specifi ed 
Directors’
2006

     

                    

Dr Bruce Gray  183,486  -  -  16,514  -  -  170,147  370,147  -

Dr Michael Panaccio  7,500  -  -  -  -  -  -  7,500  -

Grant Boyce  30,000  -  -  -  -  -  42,537  72,537  -

Charles Rowland  201,686  -  6,574  -  -  -  31,897  240,157  -

Richard Hill  25,000  -  -  -  -  -  -  25,000  -

Dr John Eady  9,174  -  -  826  -  -  -  10,000  -

Gilman Wong(ii)  20,192  -  -  1,817  -  -  -  22,009  -

 477,038  -  6,574  19,157  -  -  244,581  747,350  -

Salary
& fees

$

Bonus

$

Non-
monetary

$

Super

$

Prescribed
benefi ts

$

Other

$

Options

$

Total

$

Perf
Related

%

Primary Post-employment Equity

Specifi ed 
Directors’
2005
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5. Key Management Personnel Compensation (continued)

Specifi ed Executives’ remuneration

(i) Ms A Leard commenced employment on 4th July 2005.

 Contracts for services

 Dr Bruce Gray  Reviewed annually by Remuneration Committee. Accepted an armslength consultancy
 (Chairman)   with the Company in August 2005. 400,000 options with exercise price $4.85 with 

2-year expiry were issued at AGM on 4/11/04. Retired as Chairman on 22/08/06.

 Grant Boyce  Appointed 19/12/02. Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package
 (Non-Executive Director)   annually assessing personal and company performance and other relevant factors. 

100,000 options with exercise price $4.85 with 2 year expiry were issued at the AGM 
on 4/11/04.

 Richard Hill  Appointed 1/09/04. Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package
 (Non-Executive Director)   annually assessing personal and company performance and other relevant factors. 

Appointed Chairman 22/08/06.

 Dr John Eady  Appointed 1/03/05. Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package
 (Non-Executive Director)    annually assessing personal and company performance and other relevant factors.

 Gilman Wong  Appointed 26/05/05 as CEO and appointed Executive Director on 28/06/05. Salary
 (Executive Director agreed $250,000 inclusive superannuation and other benefi ts. Annual bonus
 Chief Executive Offi cer)   available up to 25% of base salary and up to further 15% of base salary at discretion 

of Board. Remuneration Committee will review remuneration package each year.

 Charles Rowland  Retired 25/10/05 as Director. Mr. C. Rowland was terminated in March 2006 as CEO.
 (Executive Director USD$200,000 termination package was paid to Mr. C. Rowland. 
 President, Sirtex Medical Inc)

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

                    

D. James  102,836  42,395  17,284  13,070  -  -  -  175,585  24%

Dr S. Jones  114,646  48,190  -  14,655  -  -  -  177,491  27%

N. Lange  362,549  62,476  45,910  -  -  -  132,605  603,540  10%

A Leard  122,906  52,950  5,494  15,826  -  -  -  197,176  27%

Dr M.Van Den
Berg 117,836  62,221  -  11,426  -  -  -  191,483  32%

Total all specifi ed 
executives 2006 820,773  268,232  68,688  54,977  -  -  132,605  1,345,275 -

Salary
& fees

$

Bonus

$

Non-
monetary

$

Super

$

Prescribed
benefi ts

$

Other

$

Options

$

Total

$

Perf
Related

%

Primary Post-employment Equity

 
2006

                    

D. James  99,412  -  13,950  8,947  -  -  268  122,577  -

Dr S. Jones  111,438  -  -  9,834  -  -  54  121,326  -

N. Lange  371,974  -  57,841  -  -  -  208,962 638,777 - 

A Leard (i)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Dr M.Van Den
Berg 115,741  -  -  10,417  -  -  -  126,158  -

Total all specifi ed 
executives 2005 698,565  -  71,791  29,198  -  -  209,284  1,008,838  -

Salary
& fees

$

Bonus

$

Non-
monetary

$

Super

$

Prescribed
benefi ts

$

Other

$

Options

$

Total

$

Perf
Related

%

Primary Post-employment Equity

 
2005
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5. Key Management Personnel Compensation (continued)

 David James  Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually assessing
 (Operations Manager)  personal and company performance and other relevant factors. Annual 

bonus available as part of Senior executive bonus scheme based on fi nancial          
performance of Group.

 Dr Stephen Jones  Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually assessing
 (Research and  personal and company performance and other relevant factors. Annual bonus
 Development Manager)   available as part of Senior executive bonus scheme based on fi nancial
    performance of Group.

 Nigel Lange  Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually assessing 
 (CEO, Sirtex Medical  personal and company performance and other relevant factors. Annual bonus
 Europe GmbH)   available as part   of Senior executive bonus scheme based on fi nancial
    performance of Region and Group.       

 Angela Leard  Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually assessing
 (Chief Financial Offi cer /  personal and company performance and other relevant factors. Annual bonus
 Company Secretary)  available as part  of Senior executive bonus scheme based on fi nancial
    performance of Group.

 Dr Marius Van Den Berg  Remuneration Committee reviews remuneration package annually assessing
 (Sales and Marketing  personal and company performance and other relevant factors. Annual bonus
 Director)  available as part of Senior executive bonus scheme based on fi nancial
    performance of Group.

6. Share Options
 (a) Executive and Employee Share Option Plan
   Sirtex Medical Ltd has in place an Executive and Employee Share Option Plan.
   Under the terms of the plan the Board may, at its absolute discretion, declare that an employee or         

Executive of the Company is an eligible employee and declare that any other person is eligible to participate    
in the Plan.

   The Board has absolute discretion over the number of options offered to an eligible person subject to the 
condition that the total number of unexercised options granted under the Plan plus any shares which have 
been issued on the exercise of the options granted under this Plan during the preceding fi ve years shall not 
exceed 5 percent of the total number of issued shares of the Company at the date of issue of any option.

   The exercise price is subject to the discretion of the Board and shall be equal to or greater than the 
market  price on the grant date. Eligible employees will only be eligible to exercise the option whilst in the   
employment of the Company.

   In accordance with the terms of the Executive and Employee Share Scheme, options vest 10% after 1 year, 
30% after 2 years and 60% after 3 years.

   In accordance with the terms of the Executive and Employee Share Option Scheme, options may be exercised  
at any time from the date of vesting to the date of their expiry. Options carry no rights to dividends or voting. 

     2006  2005
     No.  No.

  Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year (i)  403,000  433,000

  Granted during the fi nancial year (ii)  -  -

  Exercised during the fi nancial year (iii)  (195,000)  (30,000)

  Lapsed during the fi nancial year (iv)  -  -

  Balance at end of the fi nancial year (v)  208,000  403,000

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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6. Share Options (continued)

 (a) Executive and Employee Share Option Plan (continued)
  (i) Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year

  (ii) Granted during the fi nancial year
   No options were granted during the fi nancial year 2005 or 2006.

  (iii) Exercised during the fi nancial year

   Fair value of consideration received is measured as the nominal value of cash receipts on conversion.            
The fair value of shares at the date of their issue is measured as the market value at close of trade on            
the date of their issue.

  (iv) Lapsed during the fi nancial year
   There have been no equity-based instruments issued to employees that have lapsed during the reporting 

period nor the prior year.

  Options lapse when an executive or employee leaves employment.

  (v) Balance at end of the fi nancial year
 

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

       
 

        

No. of
options

exercised

(1) Issued 26/7/01  15,000  26/07/01  06/04/06  25/07/06  1.26  15,000  18,900  41,850
(2) Issued 6 March 2002  180,000  06/03/02  10/04/06  05/07/07  1.68  180,000  302,400  522,000
 195,000      195,000  321,300  563,850

2006
Options - Series

Grant
date

Exercise
date

Expiry
date

Exer-
cise
price

$

No. of
shares
issued

Fair 
value

received

$

Fair value
of shares 
at date of 

issue
$

    

       
 

        

No. of
options

exercised

(1) Issued 26/7/01  30,000  26/07/01  25/02/05  25/07/06  1.26  30,000  37,800  66,600
 30,000      30,000  37,800  66,600

2005
Options - Series

Grant
date

Exercise
date

Expiry
date

Exer-
cise
price

$

No. of
shares
issued

Fair 
value

received

$

Fair value
of shares 
at date of 

issue
$

        
(1) Issued 26 July 2001  23,000  26/07/01  25/07/06  1.26
(2) Issued 6 March 2002  180,000  06/07/02  05/07/07  1.68
(9) Issued 1 October 2003  200,000  01/10/03  30/09/08 4.85
 403,000 - - -

    
Exercise price $ Expiry/exercise dateGrant dateNo.Options - Series

    

            
(1) Issued 26 July 2001  8,000  8,000  -  26/07/01  25/07/06  1.26
(2) Issued 6 March 2002  -  -  -  06/07/02  05/07/07  1.68
(9) Issued 1 October 2003  200,000  80,000  120,000  01/10/03  30/09/08  4.85
 208,000

Exercise price
$

Unvested
No.

Vested
No.

No.2006
Options - Series

Expiry
date

Grant
date

    

            
(1) Issued 26 July 2001  23,000  23,000  -  26/07/01  25/07/06  1.26
(2) Issued 6 March 2002  180,000  180,000  -  06/07/02  05/07/07  1.68
(9) Issued 1 October 2003  200,000  20,000  180,000  01/10/03  30/09/08  4.85
 403,000

Exercise price
$

Unvested
No.

Vested
No.

No.2005
Options - Series

Expiry
date

Grant
date
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      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        
(3) Issued 24 August 2000  174,308  24/08/00  23/08/05  1.00
(7) Issued 7 May 2002  20,000  07/05/02  06/05/07  1.25
(10) Issued 4 November 2004  500,000  4/11/04  19/11/06  4.85
 694,308

Exercise price $ Expiry/exercise dateGrant dateNo.Options - Series
    

            
(10) Issued 04/11/04  500,000  04/11/04  19/11/06  4.85  -
 500,000    -

Fair value
received $ 

Expiry/
exercise date

Grant dateNo.2005
Options - Series

Exercise
price %

    

6. Share Options (continued)

 (a) Executive and Employee Share Option Plan (continued)
   The difference between the total market value of options issued during a fi nancial year, at the date of issue, 

and the total amount received from executives/employees is not recognised in the fi nancial statements 
except for the purposes of determining directors’ and executives’ remuneration in respect of that fi nancial 
year as disclosed in note 5 to the fi nancial statements. The amounts are disclosed in remuneration in 
respect of the fi nancial year in which the entitlement was earned.

    Consideration received on the exercise of Executive and employee options is recognised in contributed 
equity. During the fi nancial year $321,300 (2005: $37,800) was recognised in contributed equity arising 
from the exercise of executive and employee options.

   Sirtex Medical Limited from time to time issues options outside of the Executive and Employee Share 
Option Plan.

   Options outside the Executive and Employee Share Option Plan are held primarily by directors and those 
involved in the founding of Sirtex Medical Limited (Note 6(b)).

  Share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights.

 (b) Share Options outside Executive and Employee Share Option Plan

       2006  2005
   Other Share Options  No.  No.

   Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year (i)  694,308  209,385

   Granted during the fi nancial year (ii)  -  500,000

   Exercised during the fi nancial year (iii)  (159,154)  (15,077)

   Lapsed during the fi nancial year (iv)  (15,154)  -

   Balance at end of the fi nancial year (v)  520,000  694,308

  

  (i) Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year 

  Options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights.
  Series (3) and (7) options vest 10% after 1 year, 30% after 2 years and 60% after 3 years.
   Series (3) options were escrowed until 24 August 2002, otherwise options may be exercised at any time 

from the date of vesting to the date of their expiry.
   Option series (10) are options to purchase ordinary shares for $4.85 per share at any time from the date 

of vesting to the date of their expiry. Option series (10) vest 10% on issue, 30% on 20/11/04 and 60%         
on 20/11/05. The options carry no voting or dividend rights.

  (ii) Granted during the fi nancial year
   No options outside the Executive and Employee Share Option plan were granted during the fi nancial     

year 2006.
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6. (b) Share Options outside Executive and Employee Share Option Plan (continued)

  (iii) Exercised during the fi nancial year 

    Fair value of consideration received is measured as the nominal value of cash receipts on conversion.        
    The fair value of shares at the date of their issue is measured as the market value at close of trade on        

the date of their issue.

  (iv) Lapsed during the fi nancial year
  The following equity-based instruments issued to employees have lapsed during the reporting period:

  (v) Balance at end of the fi nancial year

  Share options carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights.
   The difference between the total market value of options issued during a fi nancial year, at the date of 

issue, and the total amount received from employees is not recognised in the fi nancial statements except 
for the purposes of determining Directors’ and Executives’ remuneration in respect of that fi nancial year                
as disclosed in note 5 to the fi nancial statements. The amounts are disclosed in remuneration in respect      
of the fi nancial year in which the entitlement was earned.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

       
 

        

No. of
options

exercised

(3) Issued 24/08/00  15,000  24/08/00  15/08/05  23/08/05  1.00  15,000  15,000  28,500
(3) Issued 24/08/00  15,077  24/08/00  19/08/05  23/08/05  1.00  15,077  15,077  34,677
(3) Issued 24/08/00  15,077  24/08/00  23/08/05  23/08/05  1.00  15,077  15,077  31,662
(3) Issued 24/08/00  114,000  24/08/00  23/08/05  23/08/05  1.00  114,000  114,000  239,400
 159,154      159,154  159,154  334,239

2006
Options - Series

Grant
date

Exercise
date

Expiry
date

Exer-
cise
price

$

No. of
shares
issued

Fair 
value

received

$

Fair value
of shares 
at date of 

issue
$

    

       
 

        

No. of
options

exercised

(3) Issued 24/08/00  15,077  24/08/00  01/11/04  23/08/05  1.00  15,077  15,077  43,422
 15,077      15,077  15,077  43,422

2005
Options - Series

Grant
date

Exercise
date

Expiry
date

Exer-
cise
price

$

No. of
shares
issued

Fair 
value

received

$

Fair value
of shares 
at date of 

issue
$

    

    

    
(3) Issued 24/08/00  15,154  -
 15,154  -

2005 No.2006 No.Options - Series

            
(7) Issued 07/05/02  20,000  20,000  -  07/05/02  06/05/07  1.25
(10) Issued 04/11/04  500,000  500,000  -  04/11/04  19/11/06  4.85
 520,000

Exercise price
$

Unvested
No.

Vested
No.

No.2006
Options - Series

Expiry
date

Grant
date

    

            
(3) Issued 24/8/00  174,308  174,308  -  24/08/00  23/08/05  1.00
(7) Issued 07/05/02  20,000  20,000  -  07/05/02  06/05/07  1.25
(10) Issued 04/11/04  500,000  200,000  300,000  04/11/04  19/11/06  4.85
 694,308

Exercise price
$

Unvested
No.

Vested
No.

No.2005
Options - Series

Expiry
date

Grant
date
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 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

7. Remuneration of Auditors
 Auditor of the Parent Entity
 Audit or review of the fi nancial report  72,149  64,000  56,149  64,000

 Other non-audit services  6,667  31,550  -  31,550

   78,816  95,550  56,149  95,550

 Other auditors

 Audit or review of the fi nancial report and tax services  -  20,863  -  -

   78,816  116,413  56,149  95,550

  The auditor of Sirtex Medical Ltd and subsidiaries in 2006 is Grant Thornton NSW. Prior year auditors were 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

8. Trade and Other Receivables
 Trade receivables  4,999  3,406  7  -

 Trade receivables from wholly-owned controlled entities -  -  5,322  2,852

 Director related entities  -  20  -  -

 Allowance for doubtful debts  (28)  (152)  -  -

   4,971  3,274  5,329  2,852

 Goods and services tax (GST) recoverable  61  183  (51)  81

 Other receivables and prepayments  395  424  80  293

   5,427  3,881  5,358  3,226

9. Current Tax Assets
 Current tax receivable  18  18  18  18

   18  18  18  18

10. Current Inventories
 Raw Materials:

 At cost  198  121  -  -

   198  121  -  -

11. Other Current Financial Assets
 At cost:

  Bills accepted or endorsed by banks  6,309  5,500  -  5,500

  Other Term deposits  78  83  78  83

   6,387  5,583  78  5,583

12. Non Current Investments
 At cost:

  Shares in wholly-owned controlled entities:  -  -  41  41

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

6. (b) Share Options outside Executive and Employee Share Option Plan (continued)
   Consideration received on the exercise of the options is recognised in contributed equity. During the 

fi nancial year $159,154 (2005: $15,077) was recognised in contributed equity arising from the exercise       
of executive and employee options.
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 Consolidated

 Buildings Leasehold Plant Assets  Total
 at cost improve- and work in
  ments at equipment progress
 $000 cost $000 at cost $000  $000 $000

13. Property, Plant and Equipment
 Gross carrying amount
 Balance at 30 June 2005  2,214  -  1,416  203  3,833
 Additions  952  -  58  70  1,080
 Disposals  -  -  (200)  (230)  (430)
 Balance at 30 June 2006  3,166  -  1,274  43  4,483

 Accumulated depreciation
 Balance at 30 June 2005  -  -  648  -  648
 Disposals  -  -  (241)  -  (241)
 Depreciation expense  -  -  199  -  199
 Balance at 30 June 2006  -  -  606  -  606

 Net book value
 As at 30 June 2005  2,214  -  768  203  3,185
 As at 30 June 2006  3,166  -  668  43  3,877

 Gross carrying amount
 Balance at 30 June 2005  -  -  1,165  70  1,235
 Additions  -  -  23  32  55
 Disposals  -  -  (218)  (60)  (278)
 Balance at 30 June 2006  -  -  970  42  1,012

 Accumulated depreciation
 Balance at 30 June 2005  -  -  550  -  550
 Disposals  -  -  (174)  -  (174)
 Depreciation expense  -  -  130  -  130
 Balance at 30 June 2006  -  -  506  -  506

 Net book value
 As at 30 June 2005  -  -  615  70  685
 As at 30 June 2006  -  -  464  42  506

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

 Company

 Buildings Leasehold Plant Assets  Total
 at cost improve- and work in
  ments at equipment progress
 $000 cost $000 at cost $000  $000 $000

        

 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

 Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether recognised
 as an expense or capitalised as part of the carrying
 amount of other assets during the year:

 Buildings  -  -  -  -

 Plant and equipment  199  190  130  130

   199  190  130  130
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 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

14. Intangible Assets
 Patents, trademarks and licences  3,607  3,607  3,607  3,607

 Accumulated amortisation  (1,653)  (1,473)  (1,653)  (1,473)

   1,954  2,134  1,954  2,134

 Aggregate amortisation allocated during the year is

 recognised as an expense and disclosed in note 3 to

 the fi nancial statements

 Patents, trademarks and licences (note 3)  180  180  180  180 

15. Deferred Tax Assets
 Tax losses – revenue  -  571  -  460

 Tax losses – capital  145  145  145  145

 Timing differences attributable to:

  Parent entity  358  241  358  241

  Entities in the tax-consolidated

  group (i)  (96)  70  (96)  70

  Other (ii)  2,256  2,749  1  -

   2,663  3,776  408  916

 Reconciliation

 Gross movements

 The overall movement in the deferred tax

 account is as follows:

 Opening balance  3,776  3,089  916  1,607

 (Charge)/credit to the income statement  (1,113)  687  (508)  (691)

   2,663  3,776  408  916

 (i)  Entities in the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement. Refer to note 4 for further 
information.

 (ii) This balance relates to deferred tax asset arising from Sirtex Medical Inc in the USA.

16. Trade and Other Payables
 Trade payables  901  847  233  321

 Other payables  1,502  922  638  371

 Non-trade payables to wholly owned controlled

 entities -  -  -  1,041

 Non-trade payables to directors and director related

 entities -  33  -  -

   2,403  1,802  871  1,733

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

17. Short-Term Borrowings Secured:
 Bank loans (i)  80  84  -  -

   80  84  -  -

 (i) Secured by a mortgage over premises, the current market value of which exceeds the value of the mortgage

18. Current Tax Liabilities
 Income tax payable attributable to:

  Parent entity  -  10  -  51

  Entities in the tax-consolidated group (i)  2,419  266  2,419  -

  Other  22  -  -  -

   2,441  276  2,419  51

 (i)  Entities in the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax sharing agreement. Refer to note 4 for further 
information.

19. Short-Term Provision
 Employee benefi ts (note 23)  85  149  52  94

20. Other Current Liabilities
 Lease liability  39  59  39  59

21. Long-Term Borrowings
 Secured:

 Bank loan  863  862  -  -

 Secured by a mortgage over premises, the current market value of which exceeds the value of the mortgage

22. Long-Term Provisions
 Employee benefi ts (note 23)  52  63  23  50

23. Employee Benefi ts
 The aggregate employee benefi t liability recognised
 and included in the fi nancial statements is as follows:

 Provision for employee benefi ts:

  Current (note 19)  85  149  52  94

  Non-current (note 22)  52  63  23  50

 Accrued wages and salaries (i)  40  35  40  35

   177  247  115  179

 (i)  Accrued wages and salaries are included in the current other payables balance as disclosed in note 16 to the 
fi nancial report.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  No. No. No. No.

23. Employee Benefi ts (continued)

 Number of employees at end of fi nancial year  34  29  18  14

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

24. Capitalised Borrowing Costs
 Borrowing costs capitalised during the fi nancial year 46  56  -  -

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  % % % %

  Weighted average capitalisation rate on funds 

 borrowed generally 5%  6%  -  -

25. Reserves
 (a) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

  Records exchange differences arising on

  translation of a foreign controlled subsidiary 53  173  -  -

 (b) Options reserve

  Records items recognised as expenses on

  valuation of employee share options 638  444  638  444

    691  617  638  444

26. Issued Capital
 55,740,136 fully paid ordinary shares (2005: 55,385,982) 24,744  24,264  24,744  24,264

 Share issue costs  (1,255)  (1,251)  (1,255)  (1,251)

    23,489  23,013  23,489  23,013

  No. No. No. No.
  $000 $000 $000 $000

 Fully paid ordinary shares

 Balance at beginning of fi nancial year  55,386  24,264  55,341  24,211

 Employee share options exercised (Note 6)  195  321  30  38

 Other share options exercised (Note 6)  159  159  15  15

 Balance at end of fi nancial year  55,740  24,744  55,386  24,264

 Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.

 Ordinary shares have no par value.

 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000
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26. Issued Capital (continued)

 Share options
  In accordance with the provisions of the Executive Share Option Plan, as at 30 June 2006, Executives have   

options over 208,000 ordinary shares (of which 120,000 are unvested), in aggregate.

  Further details of the Executive and Employee Share Option Plan are contained in note 6 to the fi nancial 
statements.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

    

 Consolidated

  2006 2005
  Cents per  Cents per
  share share

27. Earnings Per Share
 Basic earnings per share  3.2  (3.6)

 Diluted earnings per share  3.2  (3.6)

 Basic earnings per share

 The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary

 shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per

 share are as follows:     
 

  2006 2005
  $000 $000

 Earnings (a)  1,807  (2,002)

    
 

  2006 2005
  No. No.

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (b)  55,566,493  55,361,257

 (i) Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share reconciles to net profi t in the income statement.

 (ii)   The options are considered to be potential ordinary shares and are therefore excluded from the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share. Where dilutive,  
potential ordinary shares are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share (refer below).

 Diluted earnings per share

 The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary

 and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation

 of diluted earnings per share are as follows:     
 

  2006 2005
  $000 $000

 Earnings (a)  1,807  (2,002)
 

  2006 2005
  No. No.

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares and

 potential ordinary shares (b), (c), (d) 55,578,474  55,361,257
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27. Basic earnings per share (continued)

 (a) Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share reconciles to net profi t in the income statement.

 (b)  Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted 

earnings per share reconciles to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 

basic earnings per share as follows:

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

    
 

  2006 2005
  No. ‘000 No. ‘000

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares

 used in the calculation of basic EPS 55,578  55,361

 Shares deemed to be issued for no

 consideration in respect of:

 Share options  -  -

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares

 and potential ordinary shares used in the

 calculation of diluted EPS 55,578  55,361

 (c)  The following potential ordinary shares are not dilutive and are therefore excluded from the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share:

    
 

  2006 2005
  No. ‘000 No. ‘000

 Share options  700,000  700,000

 (d)  Weighted average number of converted, lapsed, or cancelled potential ordinary shares used in the calculation 

of diluted earnings per share:
    

 

  2006 2005
  No. ‘000 No. ‘000

 Share options  -  -

        

 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

27. Commitments for Expenditure
 (a) Capital expenditure commitments

  Plant and equipment

  Not longer than 1 year  -  350  -  -

  Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years -  -  -  -

  Longer than 5 years  -  -  -  -

    -  350  -  -
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29. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
  During the prior fi nancial year the University of Western Australia (UWA) issued proceedings against Dr Gray      

(a Director of Sirtex), Sirtex and the Cancer Research Institute (CRI) claiming benefi cial ownership of a number        
of inventions allegelly developed by Dr Gray in course of his employment at UWA and owned by the company. 
The board has established a Litigation Committee of non-executive independent directors to handle this matter. 
Sirtex has issued a counterclaim against UWA and is both defending the UWA claim and is prosecuting its 
counter-claim with the utmost vigour. The quantifi cation of the impact of this matter cannot be reasonably 
estimated at this time.

30. Economic Dependency
  A signifi cant proportion of Sirtex Medical Limited purchases are made from ANSTO Radiopharmaceuticals and 

Industrials (ARI). To address this dependency upon one source of supply and to facilitate supply in the Northern 
Hemisphere, Sirtex Medical Limited has purchased premises in Wilmington, Massachusetts, USA in which it is      
in the process of building a facility to manufacture and supply the Northern Hemisphere.

31. Leases
 Operating leases
 Leasing arrangements
  Operating leases relate to the Sydney offi ce, which has a lease term of 3 years, 2 years remaining. The 

consolidated entity does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period. 
Additionally, offi ces are leased in Chicago with a remaining lease period of 9 months, and Germany with a 
remaining period of 3 years.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

 Consolidated  Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

 Non-cancellable operating leases

 Not longer than 1 year  249  268  143  143

 Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  315  571  136  213

 Longer than 5 years  -  17  -  -

    564  856  279  356

32. Controlled Entities

  Sirtex Medical Europe GmbH was incorporated on 9 February 2004. Cost of acquisition - EUR25,000 paid in cash.
  Sirtex Wilmington LLC was incorporated on 3 June 2004. Cost of acquisition was USD10,000 paid in cash.
 This company is 100% owned by Sirtex Medical Inc.
 Sirtex Medical Ltd is included in the tax-consolidated group and is the head entity for tax consolidations.
 Sirtex Medical Products Pty Limited is included in the tax-consolidated group.

    

    

    

    
Parent entity
Sirtex Medical Limited  Australia

Controlled entities
Sirtex Medical Products Pty Ltd  Australia  100  100
Sirtex Medical Inc  USA  100  100
Sirtex Medical Europe Limited  UK  -  100
Sirtex Medical Europe GmbH  Germany  100  100
Sirtex Wilmington LLC  USA  100  100

2005 %2006 %

Ownership interestCountry of
incorporation

Name of entity    
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33. Segment Information
 Segment revenues 

 (i)  Inter-segment sales are recorded at amounts equal to competitive market prices charged to external customers 
for similar goods.

 

 Segment results

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

    
 

  2006 2005
  $000 $000

 Asia Pacifi c  10,688  2,226

 North America  (1,386)  (1,935)

 Europe   (3,850)  (1,041)

 Total of all segments  5,452  (750)

 Eliminations  5  (1,240)

 Unallocated  -  -

 Profi t/(loss) from ordinary activities before income tax expense 5,457  (1,990)

 Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities  (3,650)  (12)

 Profi t/(loss) from ordinary activities after related income tax expense  1,807  (2,002)

 Net Profi t/(loss)  1,807  (2,002) 

 

 Segment assets and liabilities

        

  

 Assets  Liabilities

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

 Asia Pacifi c  30,917  20,294  8,919  5,603

 North America  12,967  9,674  15,618  10,791

 Europe   1,457  941  8,168  3,432

 Total of all segments  45,341  30,909  32,705  19,826

 Eliminations  (26,688)  (16,477)  (26,742)  (16,531)

 Unallocated  6,387  5,583  -  -

 Consolidated  25,040  20,015  5,963  3,295

Asia Pacifi c 1,438 657 19,260 10,400 233 197 20,931 11,254
North America 18,838 9,642  -  -  6  -  18,844  9,642
Europe  2,284  1,402  -  -  29  24  2,313  1,426
Total of all segments        42,088  22,322
Eliminations        (19,260)  (10,400)
Unallocated        1,101  598
Consolidated        23,929  12,520

2006
$000

Total

2005
$000

2005
$000

2006
$000

2005
$000

2006
$000

2005
$000

2006
$000

OtherInter-segment (i)External sales    
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33. Segment Information (continued)

 Other segment information 

 Products and services within each business segment
  For management purposes, the consolidated entity is organised into three geographical areas – Asia Pacifi c, 

North America and Europe. These geographical areas are the basis on which the consolidated entity reports       
its primary segment information. The consolidated entity operates in one business segment being research      
and development and commercialisation of treatments for liver cancer.

34. Related Party and Specifi ed Executive Disclosures 
 (a) Equity interests in related parties
  Equity interests in controlled entities
    Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in controlled entities are disclosed in note 32 to the  

fi nancial statements.

 (b) Specifi ed Directors’ and specifi ed Executives’ remuneration
    Details of specifi ed directors’ and specifi ed executives’ remuneration are disclosed in note 5 to the       

fi nancial statements.

 (c) Specifi ed Directors’ and specifi ed Executives’ equity holdings

  Fully paid ordinary shares of Sirtex Medical Ltd

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

Acquisition of segment assets
- Land and buildings  -  -  952  772  -  -
- Plant and equipment  106  541  -  15  22  120
Depreciation and amortisation
of segment assets
- Plant and Equipment  156  130  16  10  27  50
- Intangibles  180  180  -  -  -  -

Europe

2005
$000

2006
$000

North AmericaAsia Pacifi c

2005
$000

2006
$000

2005
$000

2006
$000

    

            

Specifi ed Directors 

Dr B. Gray  17,358,283  -  114,000  -  17,472,283  -

G. Boyce  5,000  -  -  -  5,000  -

R. Hill  -  -  -  -  -  -

Dr J. Eady  -  -  -  -  -  -

G. Wong  -  -  -  -  -  -

Specifi ed Executives

N. Lange  -  -  -  -  -  -

A Leard  -  -  -  -  -  -

D. James  -  -  15,000  -  15,000  -

Dr M. Van Den Berg  -  -  -  -  -  -

Dr S. Jones  46,000  -  -  (6,000)  40,000  -

 17,409,283  -  129,000  (6,000)  17,532,283  -

Balance
held

nominally
No.

Balance
at

30/06/06
No.

Net other
change

No.

Received on
exercise of

options
No.

Granted as
remune
ration

No.

Balance
at 1/7/05

No.

     



    

SIRTEX ANNUAL REPORT 06     I 71

    

34. Related Party and Specifi ed Executive Disclosures (continued) 
 Share options of Sirtex Medical Ltd 

  All executive share options issued to the Directors during the fi nancial year were made in accordance with the 
provisions of the Employee and Executive Share Option Plan.

  Each executive share option converts into 1 ordinary share of Sirtex Medical Limited on exercise. No amounts    
are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option.

  During the fi nancial year 195,000 options, of a total of 403,000 were exercised by specifi ed Executives, for 
195,000 ordinary shares in Sirtex Medical Limited. 180,000 of these options had an exercise price of $1.68 and 
15,000 options had an exercise price of $1.26.

  159,154 other options were exercised for 159,154 ordinary shares with an exercise price of $1.00.

  No amounts remain unpaid on the options exercised during the fi nancial year at year-end.

  Dr. B Gray was issued 400,000 and G. Boyce 100,000 options on 4 November 2004 with an exercise price         
of $4.85.

  Further details of the options granted during the year are contained in note 6 to the fi nancial statements.

 (d) Other transactions with specifi ed directors
   At 30 June 2006 $Nil (2005: $20,220) was receivable from Directors and Director related entities. The 

prior year receivable relates to legal expenses paid by the company on behalf of the Director which were 
subsequently repaid by the Director.

   At 30 June 2006 an amount of $Nil (2005: $32,950) was payable to Directors and Director related entities. 
The prior year payable relates to expenses for Dr B. Gray relocation to Sydney.

   During the fi nancial year Sirtex Medical Products Pty Limited purchased saleable product from Gray Surgical 
(Pine Ridge Holdings Pty Ltd), a Director related entity owned by Dr B. Gray. Purchases were on normal 
commercial terms and conditions and totaled $98,841 (2005: $107,400).

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

                    

Specifi ed
Directors

Dr B. Gray  514,000  -  (114,000)  -  400,000  400,000  -  400,000 240,000

G. Boyce  100,000  -  -  -  100,000  100,000  -  100,000 60,000

C. Rowland  180,000  -  (180,000)  -  -  -  -  -  -

R. Hill  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

J. Eady  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

G. Wong  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Specifi ed
Executives

N. Lange  200,000  -  -  -  200,000  80,000  -  80,000  60,000

P. Manley  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

D. James  15,000  -  (15,000)  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Dr M. Van
Den Berg  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

Dr S. Jones  5,000  -  -  -  5,000  5,000  -  5,000  -

 1,014,000   (309,000)  -  705,000  585,000  -  585,000  360,000

Balance
at

1/7/05

No.

Granted
as remu-
neration

No.

Exercised Net
other

change

No.

Balance
at

30/06/06

Balance
vested

at
30/06/06

No.

Vested
not exer-
cisable

No.

Options
vested
during
year
No.

Vested
and 

exer-
cisable

No.
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34. Related Party and Specifi ed Executive Disclosures (continued) 
 (e) Transactions within the wholly-owned group
   The wholly-owned group includes:

  • The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group; and
  • Wholly-owned controlled entities

   The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is Sirtex Medical Ltd.

   Amounts receivable from and payable to entities in the wholly owned group are disclosed in notes 8, 15,      
16 and 18 to the fi nancial statements.

   During the fi nancial year Sirtex Medical Ltd provided management services, on normal commercial terms    
and conditions, to entities in the wholly owned group and received licence fees from entities in the wholly 
owned group.

 (f) Controlling entities
  The parent entity in the consolidated entity is Sirtex Medical Ltd.

  The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is Sirtex Medical Ltd.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

  

 Consolidated Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

35. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement 
 (a) Reconciliation of cash

  For the purposes of the cash fl ow statement,

  cash includes cash on hand and in banks and

  investments in money market instruments,

  net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash at

  the end of the fi nancial year as shown in the

  cash fl ow statement is reconciled to the related

  items in the balance sheet as follows:

  Cash  4,516  1,317  2,707  186

  Bills accepted or endorsed by banks  6,309  5,500  -  5,500

    10,825  6,817  2,707  5,686 

 (b) Financing facilities

  Secured loan facilities with maturity June 2024

  (mortgage):

  • amount used  1,069  1,069  -  -

  • amount unused  -  -  -  -
    1,069  1,069  -  -
 (c) Cash balances not available for use

  Term deposit as guarantee of $78,374 

  (2005: $83,154).
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      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006

        

  

 Consolidated Company

  2006 2005 2006 2005
  $000 $000 $000 $000

35. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
 (continued) 

 (d) Reconciliation of profi t from ordinary

  activities after related income tax to net

  cash fl ows from operating activities

  Profi t/(loss) from ordinary activities after related

  income tax  1,807  (2,002)  (3,806)  (2,213)

  Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  379  365  310  299

  (Decrease)/increase in current tax asset  -  (398)  -  -

  Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax asset  1,113  700  756  1,004

  Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects

  from acquisition and disposal of businesses:

  (Increase)/decrease in assets:

  Current receivables  (1,627)  (1,288)  (2,132)  (1,013)

  Non trade receivables  -  -  -  -

  Current inventories  (77)  6  -  -

  Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

  Current payables  601  549  (862)  (29)

  Other current liabilities  2,081  217  2,306  75

  Non-current liabilities  (11)  19  (27)  12

  Net cash used in operating activities  4,266  (1,832)  (3,455)  (1,865) 

36. Financial Instruments
 (a) Signifi cant accounting policies
   Details of the signifi cant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the 

basis of measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class 
of fi nancial asset, fi nancial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the fi nancial statements.

 (b) Interest Rate Risk
   The consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 30 June 2006 was on cash 5.6% (2005: 5.35%) 

and term deposits 6% (2005: 5%). The US mortgage is fi xed for 5 years at 5.75% after which it is Sirtex 
Medical’s option to renegotiate a further fi xed term or to convert to a variable rate loan. All other fi nancial 
assets and fi nancial liabilities were non-interest bearing.

 (c) Credit risk
   Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 

fi nancial loss to the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has adopted the policy of only dealing with 
creditworthy counterparties and obtaining suffi cient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a   
means of mitigating the risk of fi nancial loss from defaults. The consolidated entity measures credit risk on     
a fair value basis.

    The consolidated entity does not have any signifi cant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 
group of counterparties having similar characteristics.

    The carrying amount of fi nancial assets recorded in the fi nancial statements, net of any provisions for losses, 
represents the consolidated entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of 
any collateral or other security obtained.
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36. Financial Instruments (continued) 
 (d) Net Fair Value
   The carrying amount of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities recorded in the fi nancial statements represents 

their respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 1 to 
the fi nancial statements. Investments in subsidiaries are held at cost and represent the cash invested in the 
subsidiary.

   $42,000 was invested as share capital in subsidiaries in 2004 and is shown as cash fl ows from investing 
activities

37. Upcoming Change in Accounting Policies 

  The following Australian Accounting Standards have been issued or amended and are applicable to the parent 
and economic entity but are not yet effective. They have not been adopted in preparation of the fi nancial 
statements at reporting date.

 AASB AASB Standard affected Nature of change in Application Application
 Amendment  Accounting policy and date of the date for the
   impact standard group

 2004-3  AASB 1: First time adoption of A-IFRS No change, no impact 1 January 2006 1 July 2006
  AASB 101: Presentation of fi nancial
  statements No change, no impact  1 January 2006  1 July 2006
  AASB 124: Related party disclosures  No change, no impact  1 January 2006  1 July 2006

 2005-1  AASB 139: Financial instruments: recognition
  and measurement No change, no impact  1 January 2006  1 July 2006

 2005-5  AASB 1: First time adoption of A-IFRS No change, no impact  1 January 2006  1 July 2006
  AASB 139: Financial instruments: recognition
  and measurement No change, no impact  1 January 2006  1 July 2006

 2005-6  AASB 3: Business combinations No change, no impact  1 January 2006  1 July 2006

 2005-9  AASB 132: Financial instruments: recognition
  and measurement No change, no impact  1 January 2006  1 July 2006
  AASB 139: Financial instruments: disclosure
  and presentation No change, no impact  1 January 2006  1 July 2006

 2005-10  AASB 139: Financial instruments: recognition
  and measurement No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007
  AASB 101: Presentation of fi nancial
  statements No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007
  AASB 114: Segment reporting  No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007
  AASB 117: Leases  No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007
  AASB 133: Earnings per share No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007
  AASB 132: Financial instruments: disclosure
  and presentation No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007
  AASB 1: First time adoption of A-IFRS No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007
  AASB 4: Insurance contracts  No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007
  AASB 1023: General insurance contracts  No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007
  AASB 1038: Life insurance contracts  No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007

 2006-1 AASB 121: The effects of changes in foreign
  exchange rates No change, no impact  1 January 2006  1 July 2006

 New
 Standard AASB 7: Financial instruments: Disclosure  No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007

 New
 Standard AASB 119: Employee benefi ts: December
  2004 No change, no impact  1 January 2007  1 July 2007

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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38. Events After the Balance Sheet Date
   On the 25th July 2006, Sirtex Medical Ltd incorporated four (4) new entities, all of which are 100% owned by 

Sirtex Medical Ltd: Sirtex SIR-Spheres Pty Ltd, Sirtex Thermo-Spheres Pty Ltd, Sirtex Technology Pty Ltd and Sirtex 
Global Pty Ltd. In addition a US based holding company was also incorporated: Sirtex Medical US Holdings Inc. 
This holding company holds 100% ownership in Sirtex Medical Inc. and Sirtex Wilmington LLC.

      Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Sirtex Medical Limited and its controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2006
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Number of holders of equity securities
Ordinary share capital
• 55,748,136 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 1,826 individual shareholders.
  All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share, however, partly paid shares do not carry the rights to dividends.

Options
• 720,000 options are held by 4 individual option holders.
 B. N Gray holds 400,000 of the unlisted options.
 All issued Options are unlisted and do not carry a right to vote or rights to dividends.

 Distribution of holders of equity securities 

 Substantial shareholders 

 Twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities

      Additional Stock Exchange Information
as at 21 August 2006

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd  20,534,957  36.84
B.N. Gray  17,472,283  31.34
Cancer Research Institute  4,764,432  8.55
  42,771,672  76.73

PercentageOrdinary shares Number

Fully paid    

1   -  1,000  426,843  655
1,001  -  5,000  2,206,199  829
5,001  -  10,000  1,567,651  188
10,001  -  100,000  3,474,726  127
100,001 and over    48,072,717  27
    55,748,136  1,826
Holding less than a
marketable parcel    10,049  77

HoldersFully paid
ordinary shares

    

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd  15,334,256  27.506
Mr Bruce Nathaniel Gray  14,852,283  26.642
Cancer Research Institute Incorporated  4,764,432  8.546
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd <CFS WSLE Imputation fund A/C>  2,260,523  4.055
Prof Bruce Nathaniel Gray  1,700,000  3.049
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd <CFS Imputation fund A/C>  1,491,619  2.676
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd <CFS Developing Companies A/C>  1,448,559  2.598
Queensland Investment Corporation  1,331,831  2.389
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – GSI ECSA  746,256  1.339
ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C>  504,323  0.905
Mr Erik Adriaanse <National Invest A/C>  500,000  0.897
Pine Ridge Holdings Pty Ltd <Superannuation Fund A/C>  460,000  0.825
Pine Ridge Holdings Pty Ltd <Pine Ridge Super Fund A/C>  360,000  0.646
Apollo Solutions Limited  284,491  0.510
Pacifi c Securities Inc  250,000  0.448
City and Westminster Limited  250,000  0.448
Bannaby Investments Pty Ltd <Bannaby Super fund A/C>  210,000  0.377
Link Traders (Aust) Pty Ltd  200,000  0.359
Mr Charles Rowland  180,000  0.323
Attunga Nominees Pty Ltd  163,462  0.293
  47,292,035  84.832

PercentageOrdinary shares Number

Fully paid    
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Company Announcement Record

25 July 2006 - Quarter Four Cash Flow Report 

21 June 2006 - Appointment of Nathanial Geissel as Chief
 Executive Officer of Sirtex Medical Inc, Sales  
 and marketing operations for North America.

20 June 2006 - Quarter Three Cash Flow Report

13 April 2006 - Clinical Trials

15 March 2006 - Record Financial Results for the Half Year
 ended 31 December 2005

9 March 2006 - SIR-Spheres Reimbursement approved by  
 private heath insurance providers

9 March 2006 - Personnel Changes

24 January 2006 - Quarter Two Cash Flow Report

22 December 2005 - SIR-Spheres Reimbursement approved
 by Government

26 October 2005 - Director Retirement

25 October 2005 - Chairman & CEO Address

24 October 2005 -  Quarter One Cash Flow Report

31 August 2005 - 2005 Full Year Financial Results

Company Information

Company Secretary
Ms. A. Leard

Stock Exchange Listing

Australian Stock Exchange Limited
ASX code SRX

Principal Administration Office
Unit F6, Parkview Building
16 Mars Road,
Lane Cove, NSW, 2066
Tel: 61-2-9936-1400

Registered Office
Unit F6, Parkview Building
16 Mars Road,
Lane Cove, NSW, 2066
Tel: 61-2-9936-1400

Share Registrar
Registries Ltd
Level 2
28 Margaret Street
Sydney, NSW, 2000, Australia
Tel: 61-2-9290-9600

Auditors
Grant Thornton NSW

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting 
will be held at 10.00am on 
Tuesday 24th October 2006 
at the Stamford Grand Hotel, 
North Ryde, NSW Australia.

A Notice of Meeting and 
Proxy Form are enclosed with 
this Annual Report.


